
 

 

 
 
 
A Meeting of the COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held in 
David Hicks 1 - Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham RG40 
1BN on MONDAY 22 JANUARY 2024 AT 7.00 PM 

 
Susan Parsonage 
Chief Executive 
Published on 12 January 2024 
 
The role of Overview and Scrutiny is to provide independent “critical friend” 
challenge and to work with the Council’s Executive and other public service 
providers for the benefit of the public.  The Committee considers submissions 
from a range of sources and reaches conclusions based on the weight of 
evidence – not on party political grounds. 
 
Note: Non-Committee Members and members of the public are welcome to 
attend the meeting or participate in the meeting virtually, in line with the 
Council’s Constitution. If you wish to participate either in person or virtually 
via Microsoft Teams, please contact Democratic Services. The meeting can 
also be viewed live using the following link:  
https://youtube.com/live/2wGZgoXL2N8?feature=share 
 
This meeting may be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s website. Please 
note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this meeting.  The 
use of these images or recordings is not under the Council’s control. 

Public Document Pack

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fyoutube.com%2Flive%2F2wGZgoXL2N8%3Ffeature%3Dshare&data=05%7C02%7CNeil.Carr%40wokingham.gov.uk%7C6a4783d014814c94181a08dc1066e1b5%7C996ee15c0b3e4a6f8e65120a9a51821a%7C0%7C0%7C638403281254366000%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=l2C9Jd7lXQi2fL7Mwx72T66JzkQfYKIfKN4eiEOnsj0%3D&reserved=0


 

 

Our Vision 
A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business 

Enriching Lives 
• Champion excellent education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full 

potential, regardless of their background.  
• Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to 

enable healthy choices for everyone.  
• Engage and empower our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity for 

the Borough which people feel part of.  
• Support growth in our local economy and help to build business. 

Providing Safe and Strong Communities 
• Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people. 
• Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to reduce the need for long term care.  
• Nurture our communities: enabling them to thrive and families to flourish. 
• Ensure our Borough and communities remain safe for all.  

Enjoying a Clean and Green Borough 
• Play as full a role as possible to achieve a carbon neutral Borough, sustainable for the future.  
• Protect our Borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas for people to enjoy. 
• Reduce our waste, promote re-use, increase recycling and improve biodiversity. 
• Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.  

Delivering the Right Homes in the Right Places 
• Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.  
• Ensure the right infrastructure is in place, early, to support and enable our Borough to grow.  
• Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.  
• Help with your housing needs and support people, where it is needed most, to live independently in 

their own homes.  
Keeping the Borough Moving 

• Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.  
• Tackle traffic congestion and minimise delays and disruptions.  
• Enable safe and sustainable travel around the Borough with good transport infrastructure. 
• Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners in offering affordable, accessible 

public transport with good transport links.  
Changing the Way We Work for You 

• Be relentlessly customer focussed. 
• Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around 

our customers.  
• Communicate better with customers, owning issues, updating on progress and responding 

appropriately as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.  
• Drive innovative, digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and 

customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.  
Be the Best We Can Be 

• Be an organisation that values and invests in all our colleagues and is seen as an employer of 
choice. 

• Embed a culture that supports ambition, promotes empowerment and develops new ways of 
working.  

• Use our governance and scrutiny structures to support a learning and continuous improvement 
approach to the way we do business.  

• Be a commercial council that is innovative, whilst being inclusive, in its approach with a clear focus 
on being financially resilient. 

• Maximise opportunities to secure funding and investment for the Borough. 
• Establish a renewed vision for the Borough with clear aspirations.  

 



 

 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
 
Councillors  

Chris Johnson (Chair) Peter Dennis (Vice-Chair) Laura Blumenthal 
Catherine Glover Norman Jorgensen Pauline Jorgensen 
Charles Margetts Alistair Neal Marie-Louise Weighill 

 
Substitutes 

Jane Ainslie Andy Croy Phil Cunnington 
Clive Jones Stuart Munro Caroline Smith 
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey Alison Swaddle Shahid Younis 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. WARD SUBJECT PAGE 

NO.  
    
82.    APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 
    
83.    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 
December 2023. 

5 - 10 

 
    
84.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest. 
 

 
    
85.    PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

To answer any public questions. A period of 30 minutes 
will be allowed for members of the public to ask questions 
submitted under notice. The Council welcomes questions 
from members of the public about the work of this 
Committee. 
  
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can 
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the 
Committee or an item which is on the Agenda for this 
meeting.  For full details of the procedure for submitting 
questions please contact the Democratic Services 
Section on the numbers given below or go to 
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions 

 

 
    
86.    MEMBER QUESTION TIME 

To answer any Member questions. 
 

 
    
87.   None Specific REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S HOUSING COMPANIES 

To scrutinise a report on the future of the Council’s 
Housing Companies. 

11 - 44 

 
    
88.   None Specific VAWG STRATEGY UPDATE 

To consider an update on the Violence Against Women & 
Girls (VAWG) Strategy and the supporting Action Plan. 

45 - 54 

 

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions


 

 

    
89.   None Specific MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2024-27 

To consider a final report on progress relating to the 
development of the MTFP 2024-27.  

To 
Follow 

 
    
90.   None Specific WORK PROGRAMME 2023-24 

To review the Committee’s work programme for the 
remainder of 2023/24. 

55 - 56 

 
    
91.   None Specific ACTION TRACKER 

To consider the regular Action Tracker report.  
57 - 64 

 
   
Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent  
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any other 
items to consider under this heading 
  

 

 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 
Neil Carr Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist 
Tel 0118 237 9559 
Email democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk 
Postal Address Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN 
 



 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE  
COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 19 DECEMBER 2023 FROM 7.00 PM TO 9.15 PM 
 
Committee Members Present 
Councillors:  Chris Johnson (Chair), Peter Dennis (Vice-Chair), Laura Blumenthal, 
Catherine Glover, Norman Jorgensen, Charles Margetts, Alistair Neal, Marie-
Louise Weighill and Shahid Younis 
 
Other Councillors Present 
Councillors: Prue Bray, David Hare and Andrew Mickleburgh  
 
Officers Present 
Neil Carr (Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist) and Matt Pope (Director of 
Children's, Adults and Health Services) 
 
 
75. APOLOGIES  
An apology for absence was submitted from Councillor Pauline Jorgensen. 
  
Councillor Shahid Younis attended the meeting as a substitute.  
 
76. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee, held on 28 November 2023, were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
77. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
78. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
There were no public questions. 
 
79. MEMBER QUESTION TIME  
There were no Member questions. 
 
80. MTFP 2024/27  
The Committee considered a report, set out in the Supplementary Agenda, which gave 
details of Revenue and Capital bids relating to the Children’s Services and Adult Social 
Care directorates.  
  
Prue Bray (Executive Member for Children’s Services) and David Hare (Executive Member 
for Health, Wellbeing and Adult Services) attended the meeting supported by Matt Pope 
Director of Children’s, Adults and Health Services.  
  
The report stated that the Children’s Services Budget Strategy was based on not 
destabilising the existing very low cost base in Children’s Social Care, maintaining the 
“protective” factors of early help and a workforce that effectively managed risk in the 
community. This was supported by work to reduce unit costs by better commissioning and 
the development of in-house accommodation solutions. The aim was to break the cycle of 
overspends, based on an accurate assessment of future pressures and a reset of 
Children’s Services within the Medium Term Financial Plan. 
  

5

Agenda Item 83.



 

 

The report highlighted a number of key risks facing Children’s Services. These included 
the changing number of Looked After Children with an increase in Unaccompanied 
Asylum-seeking children and the low number of children in care in the Borough – other 
council were seeing increases. The pace of national reforms in Children’s placements was 
also slow, with continued market failure leading to an increase in placement costs, 
particularly for the most complex cases. National policy on SEND was also unlikely to 
change in the near future, impacting on the pressures and costs relating to Home to 
School Transport.  
  
The report also gave details of specific risks relating to Adult Social Care. These included 
the impact of inflation, workforce issues, market sustainability, the increase in the National 
Living Wage (not supported by a funding increase), NHS pressures and failure to transfer 
funds and the increasing level of need and complexity impacting on service provision.  
  
In the ensuing discussion, Members raised the following points and questions.  
  
CS. R10 – Home to School Transport – EHCP numbers had increased from 867 in 2018 to 
1688 in 2023. What were the reasons behind this significant increase? It was confirmed 
that the figures reflected the national picture. Factors included changes in national policy, 
the development of improved diagnosis and the impact of Covid-19. The Council’s Safety 
Valve Programme aimed to achieve a reduction in the rate of EHCP growth. The increase 
in local provision of SEND schools would help to reduce the number of long journeys and 
more SEND units in schools would help to keep children in mainstream settings. It was 
confirmed that schools were being supportive in relation to this objective although it was 
more of a challenge for the smaller schools. The growth in the Home to School Transport 
budget was partially offset by the proposed saving (CS.R3) relating to improved access to 
independent travel training, Personal Travel Budgets and greater route optimisation.  
  
Was there any update on the level of core grant funding from the Government? It was 
confirmed that the Local Government Finance Settlement was announced on 18 
December 2023. It appeared that there was no improvement in the level of funding for 
WBC expected from the Government. Full details would be reported to the Committee at 
its meeting on 22 January 2024. 
  
The Committee had recently considered the proposal to provide £1m Capital funding to 
facilitate additional school places at St Crispin’s. Which budget was funding this 
allocation? It was confirmed that the St Crispin’s proposal was being funded from the 
Secondary Basic Needs Programme budget (Page 74 of the report). This reflected the 
Council’s statutory duty under the Education Act to ensure that there were sufficient school 
places in the Borough.  
  
Adult Social Care Carry Forwards – Page 31 – the older people’s dementia home – did 
this relate to the proposed home at Toutley? This was confirmed, although the delivery 
model was still under consideration. The care home refurbishment budget related to a care 
home on the Barkham Road.  
  
ASC.R3 – Securing health income for residents – this saving related to ensuring that 
correct funding streams were identified for services relating to health interventions which 
were not the responsibility of Adult Social Care. WBC Had the lowest success rate in the 
country relating to these payments. Work was ongoing with the Berkshire Healthcare 
Foundation Trust and the Integrated Care Board to address this issue.  
  

6



 

 

Were there plans to improve engagement with parents in relation to the cessation or 
reduction of EHCPs? It was confirmed that a Communications Plan was being developed 
which included a newsletter and improved, plainer English correspondence. The model 
was based on earlier intervention before EHCPs were needed. It was accepted that there 
would be a period of turbulence as this change was implemented.  
  
In relation to the stability of the care home industry, what steps were the Council taking to 
ensure that the market was sustainable? It was confirmed that there would have to be 
significant changes if the sector was to continue to deliver services. In effect there was a 
national crisis in adult social care, a crisis which had not been tackled by successive 
Governments. The Council had been lobbying Government about the need for action and 
would continue to do so. The state of the care home market was high up on the Council’s 
corporate risk register. The Council had developed Optalis, purchased a care home and 
was seeking to control costs through direct provision.  
  
CS.R4 – Local Care Leaver Accommodation – What was the impact of the proposal? It 
was confirmed that care leavers liked to live in groups settings where possible. The 
proposal would repurpose some of the Council’s property assets into group living and 
individual accommodation units, thereby achieving savings compared to sourcing from the 
private sector. It was likely that the number of care leavers would increase over the next 
five years with the inclusion of unaccompanied asylum seekers.  
  
In relation to care workers, what was the likely impact of the recent announcement about 
restrictions on the number of dependants that foreign care workers could bring to the UK? 
It was confirmed that the likely impact would be a reduction in workers from overseas at a 
time when it was difficult to recruit in the UK. The Government needed to develop a 
national workforce strategy for the sector, similar to the NHS strategy. As an example, the 
increase in the 10% increase in the national living wage was welcomed but there was no 
additional funding for Councils in order to pay it.   
  
CS.R6 – Building a Permanent Social Worker Workforce – The number of newly qualified 
social workers recruited had fallen from 10 in 2022 to four in 2023. What were the reasons 
for this reduction? It was confirmed that the Council had a good record in recruiting newly 
qualified staff until the dip in 2023. A key issue was the fact that the Council could not 
match the salaries paid by some other councils – a market supplement had been 
introduced to address this. The Council was also engaging with regional universities and 
improving the training and support available to staff. Salaries at the market rate combined 
with a strong learning and development offer should attract more newly qualified staff. 
More generally, there was a national shortage of experienced staff which resulted in use of 
agency staff. The Government was being lobbied to implement a cap on agency fees in 
light of the financial pressures on councils.  
  
CS.R4 – Local Care Leaver Accommodation – Did the properties being considered include 
Seaford Court? It was confirmed that there was a legal covenant linked to Seaford Court. 
This was being addressed with a view to making Seaford Court available as an option. 
This would be part of a wider review of the Council’s property assets, due to be reported to 
Members in 2024.  
  
CS.R14 – Education Management System (special item) – What was the context for this 
proposed special item? It was confirmed that there had been an ongoing issue with 
accurate management information in Children’s Services. This item would facilitate more 

7



 

 

effective use of existing IT systems with the aim of providing better management 
information, leading to better decision-making.  
  
CS.C3 – Laptops for Children in Care – This proposal was welcomed. How did officers 
ensure that value for money was achieved? It was confirmed that the provision of laptops 
was part of the Council’s Pledge for Young People in Care. The laptops were used for 
homework, leisure and keeping in touch. The laptops were purchased through existing 
procurement routes, thereby achieving value for money. 
  
ASC.R6 – Minimum Income Guarantee (MIG) Changes to Charging – What was the 
impact of the proposal on residents? It was confirmed that this proposal aimed to align the 
MIG pension with the state pension age. This would bring the Council into line with 
neighbouring authorities. The proposal would be subject to consultation and an equalities 
impact assessment.  
  
ASC.C2 – Facilitating Better Health for Residents of New Developments – How would the 
S106 monies be spent? It was confirmed that the proposed expenditure would be a matter 
for discussion between the Council and its health partners via the Wokingham Integrated 
Care Board. The aim was to deliver projects which improved the health of residents living 
in wards impacted by new development.   
  
CS.R7 – Securing Health Income for Residents – What was the process and timeline from 
expenditure to costs being recouped from the NHS? It was confirmed that, as an example 
– Education, Health and Care Plans – the NHS should be funding the Health element of 
these plans. WBC had a poor record in relation to recovering this money from the NHS. 
Officers were working on this issue with health colleagues through the Integrated Care 
System.  
  
RESOLVED That: 
  

1)    the Executive Members and officers be thanked for attending the meeting to present 
the Budget proposals and answer Member questions; 
  

2)    the comments and challenges provided by the Committee, relating to the Children’s 
Services and Adult Social Care directorates, be fed into the development of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2024/27. 

  
81. LITTER BINS TASK & FINISH GROUP  
The Committee considered a report, set out at Agenda pages 13 to 16, which set out the 
final Terms of Reference for the Litter Bins Task & Finish Group as agreed by Members at 
the meeting on 28 November 2023. 
  
The report stated that the aim of the Task & Finish Group was to scrutinise the Council’s 
existing policies and procedures relating to the provision and emptying of litter bins across 
the Borough. The Group would produce a report for consideration by the Executive with 
recommendations for improvement and any associated financial savings.  
  
In carrying out its review, the Task and Finish Group would interview key stakeholders 
including Town and Parish Councils, community groups and specialist organisations. 
There was no pre-judgement about the need to reduce the number of litter bins across the 
Borough. The Group would carry out its work and make judgements and recommendations 
based on the evidence received. 

8



 

 

  
The proposed composition of the Task & Finish Group was five Members – 2 
Conservative, 1 Labour and 2 Liberal Democrat. The Group would elect a Chair at its first 
meeting in early 2024. 
  
RESOLVED That: 
  

1)    the proposed Terms of Reference for the Litter Bins Task & Finish Group, as set out 
in the report, be approved; 
  

2)    membership of the Task & Finish Group be Councillors Keith Baker, Catherine 
Glover, Beth Rowland and Marie-Louise Weighill, with a second Conservative 
Member to be confirmed; 
  

3)    the Task & Finish Group commence its work in early 2024.  
 
82. WORK PROGRAMME  
The Committee considered its work programme for the remainder of 2023/24 as set out at 
Agenda pages 17 to 18.  
  
Members were notified of a request to hold an additional meeting on 28 February 2024 in 
order to consider two items: 
  

         Strategic Asset Management – to scrutinise a review of WBC’s Borough-wide 
assets and future opportunities for use and service delivery; 
  

         New development in the Barkham area – to scrutinise the co-ordination of new 
development including the two SEND schools, solar farm and new housing 
developments – the aim being to maximise awareness and minimise disruption for 
local residents.  
  

It was requested that the item on Violence against Women and Girls (22 January 2024) 
include an update on the Anti-Abuse Charter. 
  
RESOLVED That: 
  

1)    the work programme, as amended, update be noted; 
  

2)    an extraordinary meeting of the Committee be arranged for 28 February 2024 to 
consider the Strategic Asset Review and co-ordination of new development in the 
Barkham area. 

 
83. ACTION TRACKER  
The Committee considered the regular Action Tracker report, as set out on Agenda pages 
19 to 24.  
  
Members made the following comments: 
  

       The item on the Combatting Drugs Partnership had been transferred to the Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

  

9



 

 

       The informal working group looking at the business case template had met. It was 
suggested that the working group provide an update report in 2024. 

  
       A meeting date to be scheduled for the update report on outputs from the Arts and 

Culture Strategy. 
  

       A briefing be provided for Members on Freedom of Information requests made to 
the Council. 
  

RESOLVED: That the Action Tracker, as amended, be noted. 
  

10



   

 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

 

 
 
 
 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
High Level Review of 
Wokingham Borough 
Council’s Local Housing 
Companies 
FINAL REPORT – September 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11

Agenda Item 87.



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 2 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

 
 
 
 

12



   

 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

 

 

Contents  
1. Introduction and methodology .........................................................................................3 

2. Context ..............................................................................................................................5 

3. Findings and key themes .................................................................................................11 

4. Future options .................................................................................................................22 

5. Conclusions and recommendations ................................................................................26 

Appendix 1 Interviewees ....................................................................................................31 

Contact details .........................................................................................................................33 

 

 

 

 

 

 
DISCLAIMER: Our report is addressed to the Directors of WBC (Holdings) Limited and Wokingham 
Borough Council. We stress that our report is confidential and prepared for the addressees only. It 
should not be used, reproduced, or circulated for any other purpose, whether in whole or in part 
without our prior written consent, which consent will only be given after full consideration of the 
circumstances at the time. If the report is released to a third party without prior consent from Altair, 
we do not acknowledge any duty of care to the third party and do not accept liability for any reliance 
placed on the report.

13

https://altairuk.sharepoint.com/sites/Clients/Shared%20Documents/Local%20Authorities/Wokingham/2023%20-%20Review%20of%20WOCs/4.%20Report/Review%20of%20WBC%20LHCs%20DRAFT%20v3%20FINAL%2014th%20September%202023%20-%20CLEAN%20-%20Copy.docx#_Toc146284148


Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 4 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

1. Introduction and methodology 
1.1. Introduction 

1.1.1. Wokingham Borough Council (“WBC” or “the Council”) is the sole shareholder of a group of 
wholly owned local housing companies (“WOCs,” “LHCs” or “the companies”). Altair was 
appointed by the parent company of the group, WBC (Holdings) Ltd to undertake a review of 
the companies. Currently, WBC (Holdings) Limited has three subsidiary companies; Loddon 
Homes Limited (“Loddon”), Berry Brook Homes Limited (Berry Brook) and Wokingham 
Housing Limited (“WHL”). 

1.1.2. We are advised that WHL, the former development vehicle in the group, has largely been 
wound down with development management responsibility now transferred to the Council 
under a service level agreement (“SLA”). Therefore, our focus has been on the two asset 
holding entities, Loddon and Berry Brook.  

1.1.3. We were advised upon being commissioned that this review will be shared with and is also 
for the benefit of the Council. Therefore, much of the content speaks directly to the 
perspective and interests of WBC as the report sets out and discusses options that are 
available to the Council in relation to affordable housing delivery generally, and the future 
operation of the companies specifically.  

1.1.4. The original terms of reference for the review were as follows: 

1. A high-level assessment of the degree to which the LHCs are meeting their strategic 
objectives and delivering for WBC; 

2. An options appraisal of the available delivery routes for affordable housing, including 
developing within the housing revenue account (“HRA”) and a revised (potentially 
merged) group structure of companies; 

3. To diagnose any factors which may have prevented the LHCs from performing better 
within the current approach. 

1.2. Methodology 

1.2.1. The methodology for our review has been as follows: 

• A detailed document review; 
• Stakeholder interviews (see Appendix 1); 
• Internal review and discussion by the Altair team drawing upon our experience of 

advising both local authorities and their wholly owned housing companies on optimal 
delivery routes.  

1.2.2. As background to this assignment, we were advised that both the Council and WBC 
(Holdings) Ltd have an open mind and that all options should be considered at this initial 
stage. Our understanding is that identifying the route to successful delivery of affordable 
housing will override any other factors.  

1.2.3. For the avoidance of doubt Altair has been commissioned to undertake a “high level” or 
“strategic” review at this stage. Therefore, we have not undertaken any financial modelling 
on the various options available to the Council. This will be necessary however before the 
review is concluded. We have set out a recommended sequence of events in the final 

14



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 5 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

sections of the report. For reasons we explain, there is currently no concrete proposal, 
programme or pipeline that could effectively be modelled. Therefore, we have not assessed 
and commented at this stage on the financial viability of the different options. Further, the 
absence of financial modelling at this stage means that only items 1. and 3. in the review 
terms of reference have been completed. Although we have identified the three primary 
strategic options for the future along with a wider list of potential development delivery 
routes, a robust options appraisal, which will include financial modelling, remains 
outstanding. 

1.2.4. We would like to acknowledge and thank all the interviewees as well as other colleagues at 
the Council and within the Companies for their support and for their candid approach to the 
interviews. It has enabled us to gather a rich evidence base upon which to base our findings, 
conclusions and recommendations.  

  

15



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 6 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

2. Context 
2.1. The emergence of local housing companies 

2.1.1. It is well documented that not enough homes are being built across the UK to meet 
projected demand. The long-term trend of house price growth outstripping incomes has 
contributed to an acceleration of trends away from owner-occupied housing and fuelled the 
growth of private market rent. Many households find themselves unable to afford to get on 
the property ladder and / or struggle to find appropriate, good quality, well-manged private 
rented housing. 

2.1.2. Many local authorities have therefore sought new mechanisms for housing market 
interventions and significantly, new house building programmes have become increasingly 
common with local authorities often undertaking development through LHCs.  

2.1.3. The Smith Institute's report, Delivering the Renaissance in Council-Built Homes: The Rise of 
Local Housing Companies, published October 2017, remains the seminal study on LHCs and it 
concluded that the approach offers councils a potential "triple dividend" through: 

• Greater opportunities to influence the provision of affordable housing addressing need 
locally. 

• Taking a greater stewardship role in place-shaping.  
• Creating a revenue stream for the council. 

2.1.4. Establishing and operating a LHC can provide numerous benefits to local authorities. Such an 
approach can allow Councils to: 

• Contribute directly to new build targets set out within its new emerging Local Plan. 
• Supplement its current social rent HRA build programme through the provision of a 

broader housing offer that includes market tenures. 
• Help address any current or future local market failures or shortfalls in terms of type, 

tenure, and quality of housing. 
• Through the LHC, take strategic control over sites, providing greater certainty over site 

delivery, quality, and design. 
• Have greater flexibility in terms of who it lets homes to, the types of tenancy 

agreements it offers and the level of rents it charges to different groups of people (for 
example, key workers), when compared to its current social rent housing provision 
through the HRA. 

• Foster well-being, regenerative and local economic benefits for neighbourhoods and 
communities (for example, ensuring good standards of design and quality, adopting 
energy efficient designs and methods of construction, working with local companies, 
and fostering training and apprenticeship opportunities, as appropriate).  

• Provide an additional revenue stream for the Council through, for example, margins on 
possible Council on-lending to the LHC or payment of dividends from surpluses in time. 

• �Leverage the potential perception and branding advantages of having a standalone 
property specific company, separate to the Council. 

 
 

16



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 7 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

2.2. Local context 

2.2.1. With a population of over 170,000 people, there is a pressing need for new homes across a 
range of tenures, particularly affordable housing within the local authority area. The Council 
estimates that around 770 new homes are needed per year to meet housing need in the 
borough. Wokingham is ambitious for growth with a target to build 15,513 new dwellings in 
the borough by 2038, of which up to 50% should be affordable housing1. Figures 1 and 2 
below highlight the projected completions against local housing need in Wokingham on a 
cumulative and annual basis. 

 
Figure 1: Cumulative projected completions vs Local Housing need in Wokingham (2023/24 based) 

 

 
Figure 2: Annual comparison of projected completions against local housing need from 2018/19 to 2037/38  

 

 

1 ‘Right Homes, Right Places’: Local Plan Update, Wokingham Borough Council, November 2022 

17



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 8 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

2.2.2. Note that these are projected completions and although updated recently the charts do not 
replace projected with actual completions.  

2.2.3. Figure 3 shows actual completions.2 

 
Figure 3: Actual housing completions from 2006/07 to 2020/21. 

2.2.4. There are currently just over 73,000 homes in the local authority area which has increased 
by around 10,000 homes since 2013. The private sector accounts for 92% of total homes in 
the borough, amounting to 67,686 homes 3.  

2.2.5. Over the past four years, there has been an increase of 1,500 new affordable homes 
provided by private registered providers in the borough. Homes provided by the local 
authority and private registered providers totals over 5,200, equally split at 2,6004. 

2.2.6. In 2022, there were 1,481 net additional dwellings delivered in Wokingham. This has greatly 
increased in the last ten years, for example there were just 401 net additional dwellings in 
the borough in 2013. However, since 2018 the number of net additional dwellings constant 
at around 1,500 per annum5. 

2.2.7. Generally, delivery overall in the borough has been impressive and has kept pace or 
exceeded estimated need, including on numbers of affordable homes. 

 

2 Wokingham Borough Council Authority Monitoring Report 01/04/2020 – 31/03/2021 
3 Government Live Tables on Dwelling Stock (Table 100) 
4 Government Live Tables on Dwelling Stock (Table 100) 
5 Government Live Tables on Net Additional Dwelling by Local Authority (Table 122) 

18



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 9 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

2.2.8. However, at the same time the waiting list for affordable housing has also increased rapidly 
from 1,613 in 2018 to 2,592 in 2022.6 Therefore there remains an imperative to continue to 
develop increasing numbers of affordable housing.  

2.2.9. Properties in Wokingham had an overall average price of £510k over the last year. Overall, 
sold prices in the last year were 5.3% up on the previous year and 26% up on the 2019 
average of £405k7. 

2.3. Wokingham Borough Council’s Local Housing Company Strategy 

2.3.1. The Council was and is forward thinking as it was a relatively early adopter of the LHC model. 
The business case for the establishment of the first company was clearly articulated as 
wanting to: 

“contribute to meeting housing needs through the provision of well-designed, high quality 
and sustainable affordable and private housing in the Wokingham Borough.”  

2.3.2. The initial intention was very much that delivery of private housing would help support the 
creation of a self-sustaining company without recourse to public subsidy beyond an initial 
investment by the Council to get the company up and running. 

2.3.3. The company’s objectives were originally established as: 

• To provide a range of high quality affordable and market housing for the people of 
Wokingham Borough and beyond; 

• To deliver market housing in order to cross-subsidise the provision of affordable 
housing and maximise affordable housing delivery on sites without government grant; 

• To ensure that housing developed in the Borough is of the appropriate quality, type and 
affordability to meet the needs and aspirations of the Borough’s residents; 

• To provide suitable accommodation for vulnerable residents, including those with 
disabilities and homeless households, that ensures a better quality of life, promotes 
independence and minimises the need for costly service interventions; 

• To provide or procure landlord services to the tenants of any rented housing; 
• To carry out any other activities specifically or generally designed to promote the 

economic, environmental or social well-being of Wokingham Borough; 
• To encourage and promote house building activity during the recession and future 

economic downturns;  
• To maximise the potential of Council-owned assets for the delivery of affordable 

housing; and 
• To complement other trading services and council operations (including Tenant 

Services). 

2.3.4. We understand this was later amended slightly (with Council and WBC (Holdings) Ltd 
approval) to “provide high quality, sustainable and affordable homes in the Borough to 
meet local housing need whilst at same time providing a financial return to the Council.” 

 

6https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11
64473/LT600_accessible.ods 
7 HM Land Registry 

19



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 10 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

Financial returns were defined as being enhanced interest payments on loans or through 
purchasing of services - housing management, development and finance etc.  

2.3.5. Although not specifically referenced in the original business case, we are also aware that 
there was a concern amongst LAs about the continuing loss of stock to right to buy which 
could be mitigated through development in arms’ length vehicles. This may also have also 
been an issue that WBC wished to address. In addition, Homes England (previously HCA) 
grant was at the time not available to local authorities. That policy of course has now 
changed since 2018. At the same time, the HRA borrowing cap was also abolished which 
gave WBC more freedom to borrow (subject to HRA viability) to provide more council 
homes. These factors represent significant changes since the rationale for the companies 
was first developed.  

2.3.6. Before deciding to pursue the wholly owned company, the Council, as is best practice, 
conducted an options appraisal against which the WOC option was compared to direct 
delivery within the Housing Revenue Account (“HRA”) and various forms of joint venture 
with both developers and registered providers. 

2.3.7. The original business plan and strategy was predicated on direct delivery of sites 
transferred into the company and it was also envisaged that there would be s106 
acquisitions to complement the direct delivery. Fig 3 contains the original organisational 
and governance structure for the company.  

 

 
Figure 3: Governance structure originally proposed for the first local housing company.  

 

2.3.8. The plan was the company build housing using commuted s106 monies. Effectively this 
would allow the Council to retain the asset on its balance sheet, albeit owned at arms’ 
length. The Council could also control the quality and timing of delivery. 

2.3.9. The structure developed over time such that the original LHC became the development 
vehicle for the group, Wokingham Housing Limited. Two asset owning vehicles were created. 

20



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 11 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

Loddon, a profit-making registered provider of social rented and shared ownership homes, 
whilst the discounted market rent homes were transferred to Berry Brook. In additional a 
parent company, WBC (Holdings) ltd was introduced.  Figure 4 shows the current structure8. 

 

 

Figure 4: Current structure of the LHCs 

 

2.3.10. To simplify and summarise the original strategic objectives, the purpose was to create 
additional affordable homes of various types and as a result provide financial returns to the 
Council. 

 

  

 

8 We note that WBC (Holdings) Ltd is also the parent company of other commercial companies. For 
simplicity we have only included the housing companies in this diagram. 

21



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 12 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

3. Findings and key themes 
3.1. Introduction 

3.1.1. We have organised our findings from the review around a small number of (7) key themes as 
follows: 

• Strategy 
• Company structure 
• Ownership, governance and control 
• Development delivery and pipeline 
• Finance, funding and risks 
• Operations and service provision 
• Compliance with RSH requirements 

3.1.2. In setting out our findings under these themes it is worth noting that although there is 
obviously a local specificity and WBC context to the issues, nothing we have identified is 
unusual or particularly surprising. We have seen them all in one form or another in a number 
of other contexts as they seem to regularly affect local authorities and the way they operate 
their local housing companies.  

3.1.3. While the configuration of these issues and the way they manifest may be unique to 
Wokingham, each of them individually is familiar to us and this gives us reason to be 
confident on the required approaches to resolve them.  

3.2. Strategy 

3.2.1. The original strategy is consistent with the approach taken by a number of local authorities, 
that is via a mixture of equity, debt, commuted section 106 sums and social housing grant. 
Schemes were intended to be developed at arm's length but within the control of the 
Council enabling cost, quality, design and programme to all be carefully controlled and 
profits retained. It is a tried and tested mechanism by which commuted sums can be 
efficiently used and also the potential risk of future right to buy stock losses avoided. 

3.2.2. However, although the initial strategy was clear, more recently, the pipeline has diminished. 
It was a recurring theme throughout all our discussions and is fundamental to the review. In 
short, the companies do not appear to have a clear growth or investment strategy and they 
lack any financial plan outside of the current budget year9. This is not to say is there is no 
“operational strategy” – indeed we saw and heard plenty of evidence as to the efforts being 
made to run the companies in an efficient and compliant manner – more of which below. 

3.2.3. The precise reasons for pipeline diminishing so quickly over a short period of time are 
difficult to ascertain. We understand it may have been due to a number of factors including 
an assumption that an MRP was required, that HRA delivery produced better appraisal 

 

9 We are aware that long term long term financial plan models have been prepared in the past. Our 
comment relates to the fact that there is currently no board approved plan that is being used for 
modelling and forecasting future financial performance and viability. 

22



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 13 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

results, and also competing priorities for land. Strategic leadership failures may have also 
played a part.  

3.2.4. Importantly, we did not get a sense that the Council currently sees the companies as being a 
central element of its strategic approach to housing delivery. On the contrary, the current 
focus is very much on in house direct delivery via the HRA and there is a feeling both within 
the Council and the companies that, at least in relation to new delivery, that there is 
currently a state of ‘limbo.’ Although Loddon has just been reselected as an approved 
“Registered Provider” we wonder whether the Council has given thought to it being its 
“Preferred Provider.”  

3.2.5. This has caused frustration particularly on the part of the companies who feel that they have 
the skills and capacity to deliver more for the Council but are being held back by a lack of 
support.  The Council’s current view is that potential future schemes do not stack with the 
companies as the exit route. This was clearly not always the case and the Council 
acknowledges that initially WHL, funded via a mixture of debt and s106 commuted sums, 
managed to develop a number of schemes successfully.  

3.2.6. The companies have never paid a dividend. There was a feeling amongst some stakeholders 
that this should be considered a failing. However, payment of dividends by LHCs to their 
parent local authorities is quite rare, at least in the initial years of investment. In our 
experience any financial returns to councils are almost always via one or both of two routes: 

• A margin charged on the lending; and  
• A contribution towards overheads, particularly support services through SLA payments.  

3.2.7. We haven’t studied the debt margins and SLA payments in detail or quantified the amounts 
but we are aware that the Council has benefited from both of these over the years that the 
LHCs have been operating.  

3.2.8. We recommend the Council works with the company boards to approve appropriate 
corporate and investment strategies so clearly articulated purpose and ambitions.  

3.3. Company structure 

3.3.1. Most LHC delivery vehicles are Wholly Owned Companies (WOCs) and take the form of a 
private company limited by shares, with the local authority as a sole shareholder. They rely on 
the powers granted under the Local Government Act (2003) which enables the creation of 
Local Authority Trading Companies, and the general power of competence granted under the 
Localism Act (2011) which enables local authorities in England to do “anything that individuals 
generally may do”, subject to a set of limitations. WBC has relied on these powers and has 
created its LHCs in a manner which is typical of the sector. 

3.3.2. WOCs are normally single entities, however some have been formed as groups, often to allow 
the creation of a subsidiary Registered Provider (either profit generating or not-for-profit), or 
for potential tax benefits. Many are funded through borrowing from the parent local authority 
via General Fund reserves or Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) prudential borrowing (lent at a 
margin), or purchase of schemes by the HRA.  Again, the group structure and funding 
arrangements is typical. Some have also looked to the private sector, particularly pension and 
investment funds, for financing purposes but WBC is yet to explore these options. It may be 

23



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 14 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

that in the current economic climate funding terms may not be attractive, however as market 
restabilises, alternative funding mechanisms could then be explored. 

3.4. Ownership, governance and control 

3.4.1. The legal and governance structures established for the group of companies is reasonable 
and comparable to other arrangements we have seen, albeit with some areas that require 
closer scrutiny and potential review as set out below. 

What type of control should the Councils have over their LHCs?  

3.4.2. As the sole shareholder of the Group, the Council has strategic oversight of all the LHCs and 
will need to ensure it holds the LHCs to account, monitoring its activities and performance 
effectively. This is likely to be achieved in several ways including: 

• The Council – LHC relationship would be governed by a range of documents which will 
set out how the Council as ‘parent’ controls and monitors the WOC. 

• The Council will approve the LHC’s strategy and business plan, and any matters reserved 
for shareholder consent. 

• Through loan agreements, where the Council is acting as a funder, which will set out 
the loan terms that the LHC must fulfil. 

• Through appointments to the Company Boards.  

3.4.3. We have advised on a range of different approaches to the shareholder function, ranging 
from full delegation to a single officer (often the Section 151 officer) through to the 
establishment of a shareholder committee made up of either the controlling group or even 
sometimes a politically balanced number of council members.  

3.4.4. Members (who must decide on potentially competing priorities for resources) are also likely 
to be in the best position to lead on holding the financial and general performance of the 
LHCs to account.  

3.4.5. Several local authorities have therefore decided that members are better placed to hold the 
company to account in a shareholder or scrutiny role, rather than as Directors of their 
commercial companies, although this approach is not universal. 

3.4.6. The various Boards are accountable for the day-to-day operations of the LHCs, including 
areas such as resourcing, site identification (albeit shared with WBC), design considerations, 
procurement of contractors and site delivery. In short it is the individual Boards who are 
responsible for the execution of the business plans but it is for the Council to approve those 
plans and provide the necessary funding.  

Therefore, who would sit on the LHC Boards?  

3.4.7. The Boards will need to be appointed on a skills basis to ensure Directors collectively have 
the right skills to lead and provide necessary oversight for each of the Companies’ corporate 
strategy and business plans. This is particularly important given the commercial character of 
the LHCs and the complex risks that the Directors will be responsible for managing. There is 
always therefore huge benefit from having independent Board members from outside the 
Council with specific housing, development and business expertise. Of course, in relation to 
the RP it is also a regulatory requirement to assemble a board with an appropriate degree of 
independence.   

24



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 15 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

3.4.8. In carrying out the review we met a number of the non-executive directors and it is clear 
that these have been skills-based appointments as the directors clearly bring the requisite 
range of skills and experience for any commercial developing housing company(s).  

3.4.9. One view was strongly expressed by a number of interviewees which concerns the 
disruption caused by political changes in the Council which then feed through to changes to 
the membership of the various board of the companies. We are sympathetic to this 
feedback having dealt with and advised on similar arrangements in other local authorities. 
The turnover in board membership created by the fallout from political/electoral processes 
rather being a function of the actual governance or business requirements of the companies 
is sub-optimal in our view. 

3.4.10. We understand the desire of the controlling political group to appoint council members to 
the boards, but this is not necessarily good for the efficient operation of the companies. 

3.4.11. Our advice is always that company boards are best comprised of individuals with relevant 
skills and experience. Other mechanisms exist for the local authority to exercise appropriate 
control over their WOCs and this includes appointing officers with relevant technical skills to 
the boards instead of members and then establishing (as described above) a proper 
shareholder committee which seems to us to be a more appropriate structure for the 
Council to hold the companies to account. It would be the responsibility of such a 
shareholder committee to monitor and manage the performance of the companies and to 
approve the annual business plan, budget and investment strategy.  For example, the 
company boards would of course have delegated authority and responsibility to execute 
those agreed plans. Empowering the boards is crucial and they should have clear targets and 
budgets to deliver the Council’s objectives. We think that having elected members on the 
boards themselves can blur those lines of accountability. This is particularly important for 
the RP because of its obligations to comply with regulatory requirements.  

3.4.12. It might appear that our recommendation results in the Council relinquishing control to 
some extent but on the contrary we believe a properly constituted shareholder committee 
can exert greater influence and control but via a more appropriate relationship. In designing 
the committee’s relationship with the companies ideally the structure will be kept as simple 
as possible to ensure prompt timeliness for decision making and also reduce the risk of 
communications between the various governance structures becoming disjointed and 
unclear. 

3.4.13. Therefore, we recommend the Council reconsiders board composition and the role of and 
location of councillors in providing oversight of the companies. The Council may also 
consider the terms of reference, membership and role of a strengthened shareholder 
committee.  

3.5. Development delivery 

Delivery to Date 

3.5.1. WHL is now dormant and staff have transferred back to the Council, providing a 
Development Agent function back to the companies.  Loddon has in recent years become 
the most active developing entity within the Council’s WOC group, using the Development 
Agent to manage the delivery of schemes and procure contractors or joint venture partners 

25



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 16 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

for delivery. Berry Brook has delivered 68 homes at Phoenix Avenue, ,4 at Anson Crescent, 6 
at Grovelands and 22 homes at Peach Place, albeit the latter was not constructed by WHL 
and rather acquired by Berry Brook Homes under a lease agreement as part of the Council’s 
wider town centre regeneration programme. 

3.5.2. Delivery within Loddon Homes includes shared ownership homes, social rented/specialised 
supported housing and affordable rented homes and totals 169 dwellings presently. The 
company effectively showcases it development delivery on its website, which also includes 
schemes labelled as supported schemes for a range of users including, adults with physical 
and learning disabilities, mental health, housing for older people and accommodation for 
care leavers age 16 – 25.    

3.5.3. Based on comparison with other WOCS, delivery is therefore comparable with those, the 
most direct comparison being with a South Essex WOC which has delivered approx. 150 
homes since 2016. 

Delivery Routes 

3.5.4. The schemes have been delivered through a combination of land led and S106 
opportunities. For the latter, Loddon Homes has bid competitively amongst a highly 
competitive cohort of affordable housing developers for development opportunities.  
However, it has been noted that in recent months and since financial assumptions have 
been changed, there is a perception that Loddon has become uncompetitive and has fallen 
behind other local developing organisations in bid rankings for S106 schemes. This is often a 
common perception as assumptions are adjusted to reflect the realities of the economy 
earlier than others. 

3.5.5. In respect of ‘land led’ schemes, Loddon is largely reliant upon the Council to provide land 
for it to bring forward schemes in the absence of schemes materialising from S106 
opportunities. Some of these land led schemes have been acquired on long leases from the 
Council.  

3.5.6. However, there is competition ‘at source’ from other Council departments for land and of 
course there is a limited supply of readily available land. From this perspective, in the 
absence of S106 opportunities from external third-party developers, the Council’s HRA 
programme is therefore now the main competitor to housing delivery through the WOC / 
Loddon Homes, whilst recognising that the HRA itself may have capacity issues in delivering 
more in the future. There appears to be a lack of clarity as to the suitability of sites that 
Loddon should develop, and the benefits of delivery through Loddon as opposed to the HRA. 
This is demonstrated by the fact that no land has been allocated to Loddon for development 
in recent months. There is a perceived presumption in favour of the HRA as a delivery route 
yet it is also recognised that the HRA does not have the capacity to deliver increased pipeline 
alone. 

3.5.7. In summary, clear criteria and clarity of objectives of the WOCs is required to be able to 
easily assess which sites or schemes are best suited to be taken forward by Loddon / WOCs 
and which should be delivered by the HRA. 

 

26



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 17 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

 

Development Pipeline 

3.5.8. Loddon has a notional target of 300 affordable dwellings and an additional 60 supported 
dwellings in 3 years (2023 – 2026).  Whilst this appears to be an appropriate aspiration in 
terms of number of units, the capacity and willingness to finance these developments will be 
dependent on a financial plan and funding being available, and crucially the supply of land 
being made available to enable development. The company can consider opportunities 
outside of borough, within a 30-minute radius of the office, although we noted from our 
discussion that there is no interest to pursue out of borough opportunities from either the 
Council or the companies. 

3.5.9. However, there is a lack of clarity over development objectives and what forms of 
development Loddon is best suited to deliver.  In interviews it was also stated that the 
Council has provided S106 receipts gained from commuted sums on developments 
elsewhere to fund affordable housing delivery by its companies, but this is not clearly 
identifiable within the accounts. In any event we understand that the commuted sums that 
were available have now been used up.  

3.5.10. As part of this review, we have been provided with a schedule of schemes totalling c. 360 
homes which were being considered for Loddon Homes prior to the development 
programme being paused.  However, there were noted competing potential outcomes or 
uses for these sites, for example, inclusion within the HRA programme or other uses, such as 
schools, or even outright sale in return for a capital receipt.  Therefore, a fuller and more 
concrete pipeline of sites, aligned with the objectives of the WOCs to support a programme 
of development is required.  

Development Capacity 

3.5.11.  Loddon uses the Council as its Development Agent. This is a standard approach that many 
WOCs and local authorities adopt. There is a Service Level Agreement (SLA) in substantive 
draft form which governs this relationship which exists between Loddon and Wokingham 
Borough Council Commercial Property. The SLA states a number of functions that are 
provided as Development Agent to Loddon: 

“WBCCP will act on behalf of LHL as ‘Development Agent’ to comprehensively manage the 
construction or acquisition of affordable housing from inception to completion. WBCCP will 
procure the project team on behalf of LHL required for each project to enable the 
development to be completed to the agreed quality, budget and timescale. 

WBCCP will provide all development services such as attending site meetings, arranging 
payments of invoices, acting as the client for LHL or dealing with the handover process at PC. 

WBCCP will act on behalf of LHL to bid for s106 schemes from house builders and to project 
manage the specification and build standards and hiring and managing the technical team to 
the point of transfer to LHL.” 

3.5.12. A development fee is chargeable but may be varied to allow flexibility in modelling schemes 
and to improve scheme viability. Where the development fee is varied, it will be mutually 
agreed in writing by both parties.   

27



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 18 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

3.5.13. In respect of the approval process of schemes, the Development Agent is required to present 
details to the Loddon Board of proposed projects at Feasibility, Pre-App, Planning 
Application and Procurement Stages of a contractor. It is commendable that approval stages 
are in place, however, industry leading approaches have employed a more rigorous gateway 
process to allow for evaluation and review up to and beyond handover.  This would help 
manage the potential for abortive costs by Loddon and provide greater control as client over 
scheme development. 

3.5.14. Therefore, we recommend the introduction of approval stages and potentially implementing 
Gateway approval processes with associated development procedures which would provide 
further client assurance and strengthen the governance of development activity.  

3.5.15. Previously WHL had its own development staff, however these were transferred back to the 
Council which now provides services under the SLA. The team includes members which have 
experience gained from a Registered Provider setting, which is valuable and which provides 
the Council and Loddon with necessary skills and experience with regard to industry best 
practice and coherence of approach. 

3.6. Finance, funding and risks 

3.6.1. We understand from our interviews, that the financial oversight has improved in recent 
years, with WBC employees taking a greater role. This has helped provide an understanding 
of the current position, the budget year and the timing of repayment of loans (reducing the 
debt and interest rate burden on the companies). We understand that this has taken a 
significant amount of hard work from the finance team to reach this position.  It is 
recognised that there is more to do and that WBC and the housing companies are supportive 
of the finance team and resource in this area.  

3.6.2. Haslers, we understand, both prepared and audited the statutory accounts, with Chinese 
Walls in place. This is highly unusual, due to the conflict of interest, and this has now been 
removed.    

3.6.3. The housing companies are funded via grants, loans and equity. This investment is partially 
supported via funding from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). On one occasion the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) also acquired a scheme  from WHL.   

3.6.4. The loans are noted as being provided at a fixed rate of 3.5% for all historic schemes within 
the 2022 statutory accounts although any new schemes are charged at 4% or 4.75%, as 
agreed with WBC to provide enhanced interest rate returns, and rates are also subject to 
whether schemes are s106 or land led). The recent increase reflects the recent shift in gilt 
rate.       

3.6.5. It is understood that the acquisition payments from the HRA are at a fixed fee with standard 
payment terms. A fixed fee acquisition is not unusual and indeed is preferred to protect 
affordable housing providers, with any price provided mirrored by back-to-back 
arrangements with contractors to ensure a loss is not incurred within the group’s 
development company.   

28



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 19 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

3.6.6. We have been unable to identify the early review mechanism for potential impairment and 
the process for tenure or planning review to adjust the scheme accordingly to improve 
performance.  If not in place, it is recommended that this is considered.    

Scheme investment – financial oversight 

3.6.7. It is not clear whether the finance team is fully responsible for setting assumptions and 
hurdles, this is expected to be the domain of finance rather than development. However, 
there was some general concern from some of those interviewed that the financial expertise 
is not available within Loddon and therefore their influence is limited. We understand this 
weakness has developed quite recently. Previously there have been scheme financial 
performance hurdles agreed by the boards. These were based on positive NPV, an agreed 
level of IRR and a positive cash flow. The boards also agreed key assumptions to feed into 
the appraisals.         

3.6.8. There is the suggestion that Loddon is no longer competitive in the bidding process due to 
the interest rate assumption. However, it is clearly recognised by finance colleagues that 
development assumptions should not be based on those required to win a bid but ones that 
are realistic and deliverable post bidding (ensuring on going viability for the Housing 
Companies). Therefore, interest rates should be based on the weighted average cost of 
borrowing (equity and lending). The discount rate applied also does not appear to build in 
differential risk for different tenures. It is standard practice to apply a small risk buffer or 
margin above the cost of funds, but for a more sale-based product, open to changes in 
house price inflation (market sale or shared ownership), values can be volatile in changing 
economic times, a greater risk buffer should be applied, this seeing the future expected 
cashflows discounted accordingly at the higher discount rate for riskier schemes. We could 
not see that there was a risk-based approach to the discount rate.   

3.6.9. We note that Net Present Value (NPV) is used as benchmark over 60 years, this is higher 
than some in the sector at 40 years, so ensuring a more positive NPV.  However, it is 
important that this is not viewed in isolation and in order to gauge the return on investment 
an Internal Rate of Return (IRR) % should be applied to ensure that cost of funds are met – 
this also takes into consideration the size of the scheme - whereby schemes which produce a 
small NPV due to their size may have been discounted when in IRR returns they produce a 
relatively high return.   

3.6.10. The delivery of any development should provide good value for money.  Each development 
assessed on its own merits, both financial and non-financial, and the risk associated with any 
development project gauged to determine whether it is within the risk appetite of the 
Board. Once schemes are approved the performance of those schemes should be monitored 
to assess that the overall development portfolio is within the parameters set by the Board. If 
these are maintained at portfolio level, there could be justification for schemes of a lesser 
financial return to progress for non-financial reasons if the financial performance of the 
programme is within the expected parameters set by Board.  

3.6.11. A portfolio approach will enable the funding requirement to be assessed and made available 
for the delivery of the portfolio rather than as currently allocated on a scheme-by-scheme 
basis. Each scheme will still need to be assessed but the level of capacity can be monitored 

29



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 20 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

and assessed as schemes are approved to gauge the remaining level of funding available and 
indicate when new funding needs to be put in place. 

3.6.12. To assess the financial performance of any scheme it is recommended a dedicated finance 
person should be available to act as gatekeeper to ensure schemes are appraised 
appropriately and accurately and that all risks have been assessed and costed accordingly. 
The scheme could be signed off by the finance expert, who is then responsible for 
monitoring that scheme and its performance against the expected return at approval stage 
throughout the development period to ensure that any deviations to its viability can be 
addressed immediately and averted. On completion, there should be a post completion 
review of lessons learned and assessment of outturn performance against that the initial 
approval stage. 

Financial planning and stress testing  

3.6.13. We are aware the HRA has a detailed financial model and is stress-tested to understand 
capacity. The housing companies have an agreed budget and monitoring of performance 
against the budget is undertaken.  

3.6.14. However, as noted above, there are no forecast financial plans (income & expenditure, 
balance sheet and cashflow forecasts) for the housing companies individually and combined. 
This reduces WBC and the housing companies' ability to fully understand the capacity to 
support future investment, the level and timing of that investment and the return of that 
investment.   

3.6.15. There is significant concern about the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) calculation 
required for WBC.  This is the requirement that a local authority must make a minimum level 
of provision against its Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), which incorporates debt from 
borrowing and credit arrangements (this includes any borrowing it undertakes to finance the 
cost of a wholly-owned company or commercial investment). It is possible for a council to 
make an exception if there is no risk of default and a cast iron guarantee that any loan to the 
company is repaid in full (as evidenced via a financial plan). However, this would be subject 
to the authority’s S151 officer being happy with the approach and associated risks.  We 
therefore strongly recommend the introduction of an entity and combined financial plan.    

3.6.16. Not having a financial plan, also limits the ability to develop mitigation strategies or indeed 
understand how different strategies may impact performance and value for money. For 
example, there is the potential for different tenure mixes or structures to be applied to 
improve returns - particularly for Loddon and Berry Brook. 

3.6.17. Therefore, it is difficult to judge whether the Council is making best use of their resources, or 
indeed is the PWLB funding is being wisely invested in the overall companies and whether 
this investment is at any risk in future. In terms of Loddon (being a registered provider), 
there is a regulatory expectation that a stress tested financial plan would be in place with 
approved assumptions and cashflow forecasts -   the plan evidencing the ability to repay 
debt and interest. 

3.6.18. We strongly recommend the creation of financial plan to provide additional comfort over the 
long-term financial viability of the companies and an understanding of the benefits of 
considering different mixes and structures.   

30



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 21 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

Wokingham Housing Limited  

3.6.19. We can see from the accounts, the administrative expenses and finance costs produced a 
loss in this company in 2022/23, this is due in part to the lower levels of development. These 
types of development companies can provide a tax benefit for those social housing providers 
who cannot reclaim VAT on development activities.   

3.6.20. In pricing schemes via WHL, who offer a fixed price, who then in turn appoint 
subcontractors, Loddon homes is not only exposed to build cost inflation but also paying a 
margin or profit on top of the build price for the subcontractor. To reduce costs, Loddon 
Homes could look to develop in partnership with a private developer who provides the build 
expertise and Loddon Homes (via WBC) provide the land and payment for the affordable 
units. This will not only give Loddon Homes access to a cheaper build as provided directly by 
the developer but also access to relevant skills and expertise required in the development 
and the sharing of the costs and risks associated with any development. This will also reduce 
any costs of funding for Loddon Homes. We understand that WHL is currently dormant, but 
we have included these comments as we recommend that a separate development vehicle is 
retained as one of the future potential options.  

HRA Capacity 

3.6.21.  We understand that there are capacity issues in respect of the HRA delivering more homes 
or acquiring properties, particularly where these homes do not fall under Housing Act 
requirements. Therefore, financially any transfer of homes back into the HRA would need to 
be considered carefully, we would also recommend a review of the opportunities available in 
retaining the existing structure before any decision is made.  

3.6.22. In addition, we understand that any returns from the investment in homes are provided to 
the general fund rather than back to the HRA which could improve the capacity within the 
HRA to deliver more homes. However, it is recognised in turn that the flexibility of 
investment and delivery will be reduced.  

3.7. Operations and service provision 

3.7.1. There are seven employees in total including the part time managing director. We had the 
pleasure of meeting the team who are all employed by Loddon but who provide services to 
both Loddon and Berry Brook. Despite a limited interaction, we got a strong impression of a 
highly motivated and customer focused team.  

3.7.2. A detailed assessment of team performance and service quality was outside the scope of this 
review but even though without any independent verification it seemed that a good standard 
of service was likely being provided by the team in relation to the companies’ homes and 
residents.  

3.7.3. When discussing with the non-executive directors, elected members and council employees 
there was a consensus view that the team were very effective. The feedback was similar for 
the way in which the companies’ non-customer activities and operations were carried out and 
particularly the way in which the information flows to the boards were managed. 

3.7.4. Without undertaking any independent verification, or reviewing performance reports, it 
seemed likely that a good standard of service was being attained by the team in relation to 

31



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 22 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

both homes and tenant services. Most of the direct services are in fact provided by the Council 
or by the Council's contractors via an SLA. The reactive repairs and maintenance service is sub-
contracted to Reading Council’s DLO as per the arrangements in place for the Council’s HRA 
stock. However, it was also reported to us that the team are not unduly constrained by these 
arrangements and will act outside the SLA to get things done for the benefit of the companies 
and their residents. This flexibility is a feature of small company structures and it is unlikely 
that such flexibility would be available to council officers. 

3.7.5. We would however also provide a challenge to the current arrangements in one respect. It 
appears that a proportion of the team's time is spent chasing the Council and its contractors 
to ensure good services are provided. Although the outcome may be positive, this clearly adds 
an extra layer of administration and cost. In effect the team are ‘man marking’ the Council’s 
work. This added layer of coordination and chasing does not exist for council tenants. Cleary, 
the finances of the companies are able to support this and we are reticent to criticise it too 
much given the positive outcomes. This is especially important in the delivery of specialised 
supported housing. Altair has experience of advising registered providers on these types of 
schemes, so we have first-hand knowledge of the management and support challenges 
inherent in this type of accommodation. A small, flexible, focused and committed team is in 
our view an essential requirement for managing this type of specialised provision.  

3.7.6. It would however make sense in the next stage of the project to assess the cost of 
management in the LHCs to benchmark against both the Council’s provision but also other 
social housing providers in the region. 

3.7.7. There has been some churn in the managing director position over the past few years.  There 
is a consensus that a recent appointment which was short lived was not in the best interests 
of the companies. We think it would be wrong to conclude that the current difficulties can be 
attributed to this, although it certainly did not help matters. Rather, the issues are to do with 
a more fundamental and longstanding changes in the relationship between the companies 
and the Council. If anything, we get the impression that the churn was more of a symptom 
than a cause. 

3.8. Compliance with RSH requirements 

3.8.1. Although not part of the terms of reference for this review, we would also draw attention to 
some compliance challenges within Loddon. These relate to some of the fundamental aspects 
of the regulator’s regulatory framework, specifically the Governance and Financial Viability 
Standard. 

3.8.2. As referred to elsewhere, all registered providers must have some form of long-term financial 
plan covering a minimum period of five years, although the standard in the sector is generally 
30 years. All RPs must have a rigorous risk management and controls framework and the 
financial plan must be stress tested to model the impact of single and multivariate risk 
scenarios based upon the financial risks recorded in the company’s risk register. Loddon 
should also have an up-to-date assets and liability register to enable the board to easily value 
the business.   

3.8.3. If Loddon was subject to regulatory engagement then it is likely is that these areas would be 
the first lines of enquiry. Although Loddon is still too small to be subject to the In-Depth 

32



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 23 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

Assessment framework (being under 1,000 homes) all the regulatory requirements still apply 
to all providers, irrespective of their size.  

 

4. Future options 
4.1. Introduction 

4.1.1. In this section we have set out the broad strategic options that are now available in relation 
to the future operation of the companies and we have provided our initial view on the 
potential advantages and disadvantages of each. As we say elsewhere in our report a 
complete options appraisal cannot be carried out until the Council has completed a strategic 
asset review and proposed a viable pipeline for taking forward affordable housing delivery 
(see section 5). 

4.1.2. We consider there to be three primary options, but it is also possible to construct other 
variations and combinations of options based on these underlying principles: 

• Option 1 - Collapse the companies into a more streamlined group structure based 
around Loddon Homes and Wokingham Housing Limited 

• Option 2 - Absorb the assets into the HRA and close the companies 
• Option 3 - Sell the companies as asset owning going concerns 

4.1.3. As a general comment we advise the Council and the companies to keep an open mind given 
the fast-changing external environment. The sector continually throws up new opportunities 
(for example, grant for regeneration and more specific allocation for pure social housing, i.e. 
social rent from Homes England than previously) as well as risks. This means not throwing 
out “the baby with the bath water” simply because interest rates are much higher now than 
in previous years, as that scenario can obviously change very quickly. 

4.2. Option 1 

4.2.1. The option here is to create a more streamlined and efficient corporate structure by 
collapsing the group into a simpler structure with a single asset owning vehicle (Loddon) to 
retain the benefit of the for-profit registered provider status. This approach would also 
somewhat reduce the administration overheads with fewer boards, legal agreements, SLAs, 
insurances, financial statements and other various burdens.  

4.2.2. This option could also involve transferring all the social rented homes (that adhere to 
Housing Act requirements) into the HRA. The shared ownership homes and supported 
housing would be retained by Loddon (these will likely deliver the return needed) along with 
the discounted market rent homes held in Berry Brook. The development vehicle could then 
be used as a JV investor. This must be separate from the other companies to ring fence the 
risk. That could mean that the risk is isolated and higher returns are generated. It would also 
be tax efficient.  

4.2.3. There are of course also some disadvantages. Transferring the Berry Brook homes into 
Loddon would potentially subject them to RSH’s rent setting regime, including the risk of 
rent reductions / caps on rent increases. However, the sub-market key worker rents that 
Berry Brook currently offers are likely to fit the definition of Intermediate Rent housing 

33



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 24 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

which, as with supported housing, have historically been exempted from the restrictions on 
rent increases.  

4.2.4. This option carries the obvious benefit of retaining a LHC. Although at various points in the 
economic cycle the LHC may not be utilised, it might be short sighted to close or sell as the 
conditions for its beneficial existence may return. If retained, it can be considered as one of 
several development delivery routes available to the Council. If it took the decision to close 
down or sell (options two and three) it would then no longer have this as an option and 
reopening the LHCs in future would likely be prohibitively expensive. 

4.2.5. It is worth noting that at the time that Loddon was registered with RSH the barriers to 
registration were far lower than currently. We advise a number of clients on the registration 
process and the timescales and costs are currently around two years and £150K to register a 
new vehicle. The fact the for-profit registered provider is such a valuable entity is considered 
under option 3. 

4.3. Option 2 – HRA transfer and close down the companies 

4.3.1. This option involves transferring all the housing assets from Loddon and Berry Brook into the 
HRA and closing down the companies. While on the face of it this appears to simplify the 
Council's current ownership and management of social housing and at the same time reduce 
the administrative burden and cost of maintaining the companies, we think this option will 
be almost impossible to achieve.  

4.3.2. Although we have not done a detailed analysis it is likely that some of the housing assets 
would not be compatible with being owned by the HRA. Secondly from our discussions with 
the Council’s HRA modelling consultant the HRA is unlikely to have the capacity to absorb 
these units as it currently stands. 

4.3.3. While we make a general recommendation that some HRA modelling should be undertaken 
to test its future capacity for asset acquisitions and development of new homes, we suspect 
this option is not viable. 

4.4. Option 3 – Sell 

4.4.1. The Council may consider cashing in on the net asset value that has been built up in the 
companies to receive a one-off windfall to the Council's general fund. This could be achieved 
by selling the companies still containing their assets. The challenge here of course would be 
the practical implications of finding willing buyers for a diverse range of housing assets in a 
complicated group structure. These difficulties may in part be mitigated by individual 
company sales or even individual asset sales to a range of different investors including other 
RP's.  

4.4.2. From our recent client work we are aware that a market is emerging for the sale of profit-
making registered provider vehicles. Recent transactions have priced the value of just the 
registered company (irrespective of owned assets) at anywhere between £400k and £1m. 
The fact that Loddon is currently a provider of specialised supported housing may make it 
less attractive to some investors but nonetheless we think there would be strong interest.  

4.4.3. As with the other options various configurations to suit the Council’s precise needs could be 
considered and modelled.  

34



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 25 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

 

Option  Advantages Disadvantages/challenges 

1. Collapse the 
companies into a 
more streamlined 
group structure based 
on Loddon and WHL 

• Easier and cheaper 
administration  

• Fewer boards 
• Fewer service 

agreements 
• Utilisation of the 

structure to support 
needs and joint 
investment 
opportunities  

• Potential for receipt of 
HE grant 

• Strong covenant for 
lending based on RSH 
registration 

• Able to acquire s106 
schemes 

• Combined 
strengthened balance 
sheet (Loddon and 
Berry Brook) may 
create additional 
borrowing capacity 

• Transferring Berry 
Brook stock would 
subject them to the 
RSH rent setting 
regime.  

• Identifying viable 
pipeline of further 
schemes 

2. Absorb the assets into 
the HRA and close the 
companies 

• Greater control and 
clarity 

• Simplification 

• Not all properties can 
be transferred under 
Housing Act provisions 

• The transfer of assets 
and liabilities may 
further weaken the 
HRA’s capacity  

• Removes benefits of 
alternative delivery 
vehicles 

• Risk of stock loss to 
right to buy 

• Resident consultation, 
this may be an 
unpopular proposal 

3. Sell the companies as 
asset owning going 
concerns 

• A one-off windfall to 
the Council’s general 
fund 

• A market is emerging 
in the transfer of 

• The practical 
implications of finding 
willing buyers for a 
diverse range of 
housing assets in a 
complicated group 

35



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 26 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

profit-making 
registered providers 

 

• Resident consultation 
– transfer to a non-LA 
investor (private 
equity?) may not be 
popular with 
residents.  

• Might not be 
acceptable politically 

 
  

36



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 27 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

5. Conclusions and recommendations 
5.1. Conclusions 

5.1.1. Overall, we think the companies have achieved more than is given credit for. Several 
hundred homes have been delivered of various tenures including specialised 
accommodation for vulnerable adults. A significant net asset value has been built up within 
the companies. Services are good quality with satisfied tenants. Although returns to the 
Council have not delivered quite as expected (although the margins on borrowing are not 
insignificant either), when compared to other local housing companies this is not uncommon 
and we do not think this should detract from the achievements that have been made. 

5.1.2. However, there has been something of a breakdown in trust and in effective collaboration 
and communication between the Council and the companies. From the review we have 
undertaken, there is no obvious single event that has caused this. We do not believe that at 
this stage a more forensic investigation is of value as the mechanisms and actions to address 
the current situation would in any event be the same. 

5.1.3. Altair’s view is that the next steps are very clear (we note that some of the steps may already 
be in train or complete): 

• First, the Council needs to be clear about its development aspirations and affordable 
housing targets in terms of size, tenure, quality and location etc. 

• Second, it needs to conduct a strategic asset review to ensure it is making efficient and 
profitable use of its land assets, particularly in the pursuit of additional affording 
housing delivery. It is critical that this review if executed by individuals with the 
necessary skills and experience and the Council should consider doing this exercise in 
collaboration with the companies.  

• Third, upon completion of the strategic asset review, the Council can then assess how 
it can use its land assets to develop a realistic pipeline of schemes which can go towards 
meeting its strategic housing ambitions. 

• Fourth, and only once the first three steps have been concluded, a robust options 
appraisal can be carried out on the optimal route for each of those pipeline 
opportunities. Such an options appraisal to include not only scheme modelling but also 
long-term financial modelling at the entity/organisational level. It may well be that 
some types of schemes are ideally suited for development within a local housing 
company while others may well best be left to the private sector via a disposal of the 
land or delivered via various joint venture arrangements. Subject to the capacity within 
the HRA, it may also be possible for the council to do direct delivery and retain 
ownership within the HRA (but note our earlier comments about financial capacity and 
limits on potential borrowing).  

• Fifth, the three strategic options (or variations thereof) set out in section 4 can then be 
assessed to conclude the review of the LHCs. It may be practical to undertake step 5 
concurrently with step 4 as the pipeline schemes may need to be assessed within 
different scenarios of strategic option 1.  

5.1.4. By following these steps it will be possible for WBC and the companies to redefine their 
respective strategic and operational roles in housing delivery. Given our conclusions and 
particularly the requirement to conduct an options appraisal of delivery routes and strategic 
options, we believe it would be premature at this stage to begin any course of action that 

37



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 28 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

would remove the LHCs as a potential delivery route. If action was taken now it would be 
based more on relationships, rather than on hard evidence about whether they can deliver 
for the Council. 

5.1.5. When conducting the options appraisal, the Council should consider widening its view on 
what might be appropriate forms of delivery as the market has continued to develop and 
evolve over the past decade. More and more local authorities have continued to get more 
involved in housing delivery via an increasing variety of delivery routes and structures.  

5.1.6. Therefore, it might be that a solution is a combination of various approaches. Delivery routes 
we would recommend assessing would include: 

• Direct Delivery by the Council 
• Development Agreement with Developer (non-corporate Joint Venture) 
• Corporate Joint Venture with Developer 
• Traditional land sale, and land sale options 
• Development Company (LHCs) 
• Investment Partnership of various forms 

5.1.7. It may also make sense at this stage given how much the local authority development sector 
has moved on to consider undertaking research and peer review work to understand the 
“tried and tested” delivery approaches for councils in similar positions to WBC and with 
similar aspirations.  

5.1.8. We have at this stage assumed that the LHC(s) will be retained in some form therefore we 
have also made a series of recommendations to improve the way they operate. However, it 
might be prudent to delay implementing these recommendations until the bigger strategic 
questions have been resolved.    

5.2. Recommendations 

5.2.1. For ease of reference, we have extracted our recommendations from the main body of the 
report and listed them in Table 1. The theme refers to the section headings under which we 
organised our findings in sections 3, 4 and 5 of the report. 

 

Table 1 - Recommendations 

No.  Recommendation  Theme  Proposed lead 

1.  The Council to provide clarity on its 
development aspirations and affordable 
housing targets in terms of tenure, quality 
and location. 

Main conclusion WBC Assistant 
Director Economy & 
Housing 

2.  The Council to conduct a strategic asset 
review to ensure it is making efficient and 
profitable use of its land assets, , and to 
create a realistic pipeline of schemes which 

Main conclusion WBC Assistant 
Director Commercial 
Property 

38



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 29 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

can go towards meeting its strategic housing 
ambitions. 

3.  Conduct a robust options appraisal on the 
optimal route for each of the pipeline 
opportunities. To include not only scheme 
modelling but also long-term financial 
modelling at the entity/organisational level. 

Main conclusion WBC & LBBH Housing 
& Finance Pipeline 
Sub-group 

4.  Assess the three strategic options (or 
variations thereof) set out in section 4 to 
conclude the LHCs review. 

Main conclusion WBC Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer and 
Director of Resources 
& Assets and Loddon 
& Berry Brook Homes 
Managing Director 

5.  Develop an appropriate action plan to take 
the recommendations to the Council and the 
housing company boards in a timely fashion. 
The action plan to have SMART aims and 
targets and to set out clearly the responsible 
persons/groups for delivery against each 
agreed recommendation and with a 
proposed realistic deadline. 

Main Conclusion WBC Assistant 
Director Economy & 
Housing and Loddon 
& Berry Brook Homes 
Managing Director 

  

6.  The Council to work with the company boards 
to approve an appropriate corporate and 
investment strategy 

Strategy WBC Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer and 
Director of Resources 
& Assets 

7.  The Council to reconsider board composition 
and the role of and location of councillors in 
providing oversight of the companies. 

Ownership, 
governance and 
control 

WBC (Holdings) Ltd.  

 

8.  The Council to consider the terms of 
reference, membership and role of a 
strengthened shareholder committee. 

Ownership, 
governance and 
control 

WBC (Holdings) Ltd. 

9.  Clear criteria and clarity of objectives of the 
WOCs is required to be able to easily assess 
which sites or schemes are best suited to be 
taken forward by Loddon / WOCs and which 
should be delivered by the HRA or other 
routes. 

Development 
delivery 

WBC Assistant 
Director Economy & 
Housing and Assistant 
Director Commercial 
Property 

39



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 30 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

10.  A fuller more concrete pipeline of sites, 
aligned with the objectives of the WOCs to 
support a programme of development is 
required.  

Development 
delivery  

WBC Assistant 
Director Economy & 
Housing and Assistant 
Director Commercial 
Property 

11.  Reviewing approval stages and potentially 
implementing Gateway approval process 
with associated development procedures 
would provide further client assurance and 
reinforced development governance 
approach. 

Development 
delivery  

Housing Company 
Operations Group 

12.  Review development assumptions and 
hurdles to ensure the risk and return is 
considered  

Finance, funding 
and risks  

Housing Company 
Operations Group 

13.  Early impairment reviews are undertaken to 
identify any potential impairment and 
mitigating action taken 

Finance, funding 
and risks 

Housing Company 
Operations Group 

14.  Finance act as gatekeeper to ensure schemes 
are appraised appropriately and accurately 
and that all risks have been assessed and 
costed accordingly.  The scheme could be 
signed off by the finance expert who is then 
responsible for monitoring that scheme and 
its performance against the expected return 
at approval stage throughout the 
development period to ensure that any 
deviations its viability can be addressed 
immediately and averted. On completion 
there should be a post completion review of 
lessons learned and assessment of outturn 
performance against that the initial approval 
stage. 

Finance, funding 
and risks 

Housing Company 
Operations Group 

15.  A financial plan and stress testing is put in 
place for the companies and at a combined 
level to ensure clarity and understanding of 
future performance, funding requirements 
and investment returns, and the impact of 
different tenures and structures.  This will 
enable strategic decision making and a 
portfolio approach to delivery.   

Finance, funding 
and risks 

Housing Company 
Operations Group 

40



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 31 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

16.  Review and benchmark costs of management 
and administration to ensure value for 
money. 

Operations and 
service provision 

Loddon & Berry 
Brook Homes Head of 
Operations 

17.  Review Loddon’s compliance against RSH’s 
regulatory framework. 

Compliance with 
RSH 
requirements 

Loddon & Berry 
Brook Homes Head of 
Operations 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

41



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 32 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

Appendix 1 Interviewees 

Interviewee Job Title  

Councillor Stephen Conway  Leader of the Council and Executive Member for Housing 

Councillor Prue Bray Deputy Leader of the Council and Executive Member for 
Children’s Services 

Graham Ebers WBC Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Director of 
Resources and Assets  

Kajal Patel Head of Finance (Loddon Homes and Berry Brook) on 
secondment from WBC 

Karen Howick  Head of Operations (Loddon Homes & Berry Brook) 

Michelle Johnson Housing Officer (Loddon Homes and Berry Brook) 

Tracey Garner Service Improvement Officer (Loddon Homes and Berry 
Brook) 

Amy Griffiths Service and Compliance Officer (Loddon Homes and Berry 
Brook) 

Lisa Standing Finance Specialist (Loddon Homes and Berry Brook) 

Robin Roberts Non-Executive Director (Berry Brook and Wokingham 
Housing Limited) 

Derek Cash Non-Executive Director (Loddon Homes) 

Fred Wright Non-Executive Director (Berry Brook and Wokingham 
Housing Limited) 

Nigel Bailey Non-Executive Director (and former Managing Director, 
Loddon Homes) 

Simon Dale Managing Director  

Graham Cadle WBC Assistant Director Finance 

Mark Thompson WBC Head of Corporate Finance & Chief Accountant 

Glenn Smith Housing Finance Associates (HRA Modelling) 

Katie Meakin  WBC Head of Development 

Sarah Morgan  WBC Assistant Director Commercial Property 

Rhian Hayes WBC Assistant Director, Economy and Housing 

42



Review of WBC Local Housing Companies Page | 33 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

Frances Haywood WBC Head of Strategic Housing 

Emma-Jane Brewerton Former WBC Senior Solicitor 

Rachal Lucas WBC Senior Lawyer and Team Leader (WBC (Holdings) Ltd).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

43



   

 

   
 

Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.
Private: Information that contains a small amount of sensitive data which is essential to communicate with an individual but doesn’t 
require to be sent via secure methods.

Contact details
Graham Hishmurgh

Director

07940 569395

graham.hishmurgh@altairltd.co.uk 

 

 

44

mailto:graham.hishmurgh@altairltd.co.uk


 

 
 
TITLE 

 
VAWG Strategy Update 

  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 22 January 2024 
  
WARD None Specific  
  
LEAD OFFICER 
 
LEAD MEMBER 

Narinder Brar – Head of Enforcement & Safety 
 
David Hare 

 
 
 
OUTCOME/BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY 
The report provides an update on the Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG) 
Strategy, progress against the VAWG Action Plan and the Anti-Abuse Charter. The 
VAWG Strategy supports the strategic priority of providing safe, strong communities. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to:   
 

1) Note the VAWG Strategy 2023-2026 that was formally approved by the 
Executive on the 28 September 2023;   
  

2) Offer feedback on the VAWG Action Plan that was approved by the Wokingham 
Community Safety Partnership on 14 December 2023; and  
 

3) Note that an update on the Anti Abuse Charter will be provided as part of the 
Wokingham Community Safety Partnership annual update.  

  
 
SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
The Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) strategy, approved by the Executive,  
sets out how the Wokingham Community Safety Partnership, of which Wokingham 
Borough Council is a key partner, will tackle such violence.  
 
The strategy aligns with the strategic outcomes of the Council Plan 2022 - ‘Providing 
safe strong communities’ and the Wokingham Community Safety Strategy 2021-2024. 
  
The Domestic Abuse strategy and Serious Violence & Exploitation strategy sits 
alongside the VAWG strategy with the key aims of tackling domestic abuse and serious 
violence which are key pillars of VAWG.      
 
The Wokingham Community Safety Partnership (WCSP) agreed to adopt the VAWG 
Strategy and the VAWG Action Plan at its meeting on the 14 December 2023.  
 
 

45

Agenda Item 88.



 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
In July 2021, the Government published a ‘Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls 
(VAWG)’ strategy followed by a National Statement of Expectations in March 2022, to 
highlight crimes which disproportionately affect women and girls.  
 
The Wokingham VAWG Strategy 2023 - 2026 was developed using the national 
guidance and National Statement of Expectations as a framework to help develop 
improved  processes for tackling VAWG in partnership with service providers and the 
community.  
 
The strategy that had been requested by the Executive, in September 2022, was 
formally approved by the Executive in October 2023. Due to the timing of meetings the 
strategy was presented to the Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board after Executive 
approval on the basis that any further amendments arising would be delegated to the 
Director of Place & Growth in consultation with the Lead Member. The Wellbeing Board 
supported the decision of the Executive to approve the strategy with no amendments.    
 
The Executive also requested that the Wokingham Community Safety Partnership 
(WCSP) adopt the approved VAWG Strategy and take responsibility for its further 
development and oversight alongside the VAWG Action Plan. This was agreed by the 
WCSP at its meeting on the 14 December 2023.   
 
The Year 1 Action Plan (attached) has been developed to include a range of initiatives 
and activity focussed on the needs and requirements of communities across the 
Borough.  
 
Whilst Wokingham Borough Council has taken important steps towards improving its 
response to VAWG, for example through the WBC Anti Abuse Charter, Domestic Abuse 
Strategy and Serious Violence & Exploitation Strategy, more needs to be done.  
 
A local Wokingham VAWG strategy was therefore considered essential in drawing 
together data, best practice, and experiences of victims who are affected by crimes 
which disproportionately affect women and girls, creating a robust response and a drive 
to reduce prevalence of these crimes.  
 
The Community Safety Partnership’s strategic needs assessment is currently being 
prepared and that will help provide the necessary data to inform the action plan, and 
this will be particularly important as we develop action plans for years two and three and 
beyond.    
  
At a previous meeting of this Committee Members stressed the importance of hearing 
from women and girls that had been victims and survivors of VAWG, for example 
through focus groups and one-to-one’s. The Committee also stressed the importance of 
having an action plan that contains key performance indictors (KPI’s) showing clear 
targets and achievements year on year. The action plan shown is intended to cover 
year one and will, subject to discussion with partner organisations and WBC colleagues, 
be refined to show key, realistic and achievable dates.            
      
In summary, the priorities shown in the VAWG strategy upon which the VAWG action 
plan is focused on are:- 

46



 

 
1. Putting the victim/survivor at the centre of service design and delivery; 

 
2. Taking a strategic, system-wide approach to commissioning; 

 
3. Having a clear focus on perpetrators and holding them to account; 

 
4. Safeguarding and supporting individuals and victims at every point with a strong 

emphasis on early identification and help; 
 

5. Raising local awareness of the issues and involve, engage, and empower 
communities to seek, design and deliver solutions;  
 

6. Changing inappropriate attitudes and behaviours of men and boys. 

 
RESOURCE IMPLICTIONS 
 
There will be resource implications for delivering activity in support of the 
abovementioned priorities, but the financial implications will not be known until such 
activity has been identified. The Community Safety Team already lead on tackling 
Domestic Abuse and Serious Violence and Exploitation and key areas of that work is 
currently funded. However, further funding may be required subject to what the  
strategic needs assessment tells us.  
 
To achieve successful outcomes, input and support will be required from a broad range 
of other services across the council. Whilst the strategy has been produced by WBC, 
successful delivery will be dependent on partnership support including Thames Valley 
Police, Probation Service, Public Health, NHS, Service Providers and the Voluntary and 
not for profit sectors. 
 
Partnership work already contributes significantly to tackling VAWG but there is much 
more to do. The strategy and action plan will help to identify where and how 
improvements can be made so that we can ensure that women and girls in our 
communities are safe, feel safe and have equal opportunities alongside men and boys. 
 
ANTI ABUSE CHARTER 
 
The Anti Abuse Charter approved in January 2021 made a commitment to prevent any 
form of violence or abuse against anyone in the Borough. A lot of activity continues to 
take place across a range of workstreams as mentioned earlier in the report, including 
domestic abuse, violence against women and girls, serious violent crime, hate crime, 
exploitation, and anti-social behaviour .   
 
At the meeting of this committee in July 2023 it was resolved that an update on the Anti-
Abuse Charter would be incorporated into the annual Community Safety Partnership 
update and that will follow later in the year.      
 
 

47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Public: Information that can be seen and used by everyone inside and outside the Council.

Appendix 
 

Wokingham Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG) 

Action Plan 2024 
The following action plan flows from the priorities set out in the Wokingham Violence 
Against Women and Girls Strategy (2023 – 26) that was approved by the 
Wokingham Borough Council Executive in September 2023. 

It sets out the actions to be undertaken in Year 1 with findings informing the Year 2 
and Year 3 action plans.  

In order to help focus on the specific activity required to tackle VAWG, further 
consultation will be carried out with service delivery partners and the community 
including hearing the voices of victims and survivors of VAWG.       

Comments on the Action Plan are welcomed and can be shared with the Wokingham 
Community Safety Partnership, via the Community Safety Team at Wokingham 
Borough Council (VAWG@wokingham.gov.uk). 

The following acronyms have been used in the action plan:   

• WBC (Wokingham Borough Council 
• WCST (Wokingham Community Safety Team) 
• DANG (Domestic Abuse Networking Group)  
• DAPB (Domestic Abuse Partnership Board)  
• ASC (Adult Social Care)  
• Comms (WBC Communications Team)  
• TVP (Thames Valley Police)  

 

    Priority 1 Action Lead Progress 
1.1 Undertake a comprehensive needs 

assessment to map the demographics and 
lived experiences of victims locally. 
 

WCST/Analyst   

1.2 Review local crime data and other non-
criminal justice data about the prevalence of 
VAWG crimes in the area, as well as national 
research on the likely prevalence of VAWG 
crimes.  
 

WCST/Analyst  

Put the victim 
/survivor at the 
centre of service 
design and 
delivery. 

1.3 Invite feedback via the annual Community 
Safety Survey 2024 on whether there are 
individuals willing to share personal 
experiences and/or views and concerns on 
VAWG issues. This could be through 
individual (1 to 1) or focus group settings. 
 

WCST/WBC 
Comms 

 

49



 

2 
 

Public: Information that can be seen and used by everyone inside and outside the Council.

Subject to the response, set up arrangements 
to ensure victim-survivors can share their 
views and experiences. 
 

1.4 Map local specialist VAWG service provision, 
including that designed specifically to support 
victims from ethnic minority backgrounds, 
deaf and disabled victims, victims with 
learning disabilities, male victims, LGBT+ 
victims, migrant victims, children and young 
people and older victims. Identify any gaps 
and consider ways of improving levels of 
provision.   
 

(DA element: 
DANG/ WBC DA 
Coordinator) 

 

1.5 Continue to develop the ‘Safe Places’ scheme 
by reviewing and offering refresher training to 
existing businesses  and identify and include 
additional retailers/businesses to include in 
the scheme.      
 

ASC  

1.6 Carry out an audit of car parks and other 
council owned facilities (Including parks and 
open spaces) across the borough to ensure 
there are appropriate and safe levels of 
lighting and that overgrown hedges and 
foliage are cut back to avoid creating 
secluded locations.   
 

WCST/ 
Highways/ 
Street Lighting/  
Parks & Open 
Spaces   

 

1.7 Produce and make available in paper form 
and on-line a ‘Going Out and Staying Safe’ 
guide that will provide practical advice on 
staying safe in the borough and how to seek 
help if feeling threatened or unsafe. 
 

WCST/Comms  

Priority 2 Action Lead Progress 
2.1 Map service provision in the local area by 

accessing available data, evidence, service 
standards and intelligence from local and 
national specialist providers.  
 

DA: WBC DA 
Coordinator 
 

(The domestic 
abuse elements 
will be subject 
to a separate 
needs 
assessment to 
be commenced 
following data 
collection to 
31/3/2024) 

2.2 Gather input from victims and survivors 
including those who have never used a 
specialist service. 
 

WCST  

Take a strategic, 
system-wide 
approach to 
commissioning 
acknowledging 
the gendered 
nature of VAWG. 

2.3 Royal Berkshire Hospital to update on the 
extent to which health professionals are 
trained to identify and support victims and 
signpost them to appropriate services. 
 

(DA element 
DANG) 

(Domestic 
Abuse training 
is ongoing and 
detailed within 
the DA action 
plan) 

50



 

3 
 

Public: Information that can be seen and used by everyone inside and outside the Council.

2.4 Have a meaningful process for measuring 
victims’ satisfaction, including engaging with 
local specialist VAWG organisations to 
understand how they qualitatively and 
quantitatively measure victims’ satisfaction 
with the services and support they receive. 
 

 
(DA element 
DANG) 

 

2.5 Collaborate and develop shared goals and 
objectives with neighbouring local authorities 
and service boundaries to ensure a multi-
agency response, recognising that services 
may be commissioned in partnership or at a 
regional level. 
 

(DA element: 
DAPB/DANG) 

 

Priority 3 Action Lead Progress 
3.1 Help shape services for perpetrators by 

drawing on the data from the strategic needs 
assessment process.  
 

(DA element: 
DANG) 

(Holding DA 
Perpetrators to 
account is 
detailed in the 
DA Action Plan) 

3.2 Assess and address local specialist provision 
and consider diverse specialist provisions 
where necessary in order to increase the 
safety of victims. 
 

DANG  

3.3 Review the effectiveness of programmes that 
are designed to work with perpetrators and 
where appropriate ensure they form part of 
longer-term strategies to prevent reoffending 
and have a clear plan for bringing perpetrators 
to justice.  
 

DANG / TVP  

Have a clear 
focus on 
perpetrators and 
hold them to 
account 

3.4 Consider whether there is access to services 
that work with young people who are 
displaying sexually violent behaviour, and how 
young people displaying such behaviours are 
being supported to change their behaviour. 
 

Cranstoun DA 
perpetrator 
interventions; 

Behaviour 
change 
programmes in 
place for DA 
perpetration, 
includes 
support for 
young people 

Priority 4 Action Lead Progress 
4.1 Identify a board and/or forums of local 

champions or critical friends (including 
representatives from smaller specialist 
organisations from the VAWG sector) to drive 
challenge and learning on VAWG issues and 
review progress locally.  
 

WCST  

4.2 Assess multi-agency approaches and identify 
ways of streamlining structures to improve 
joined up approaches to tackling VAWG and 
case management. 
 

WCST  

Be locally-led 
and safeguard 
individuals at 
every point. 

4.3 Identify what practical steps can be taken to 
ensure learning from reviews and inspectorate 
reports including domestic homicide reviews, 

(DHRs: WBC DA 
Coordinator) 

 

51



 

4 
 

Public: Information that can be seen and used by everyone inside and outside the Council.

serious case reviews, and deaths by suicide 
where the victim had a history of VAWG. 
 

4.4 Consider how training provided to local 
professionals (on all types of VAWG) is 
evaluated, and how it is making a difference.  
 

(DA element; 
WBC DA 
coordinator 

 

Priority 5 Action Lead Progress 
5.1 Review a range of local initiatives including:-  

 
‘Ask for ANI’ (Action Needed Immediately) a 
codeword that enables victims of domestic 
abuse to discreetly ask for immediate help in 
participating Pharmacies and Jobcentres. 
 
‘Ask for Angela’ the safety initiative available 
in licenced premises (bars, clubs and other 
licensed businesses) where people can 
discreetly seek help from venue staff if they 
feel unsafe, vulnerable or threatened by 
approaching and asking them for ‘Angela’.  
 

WCST 
Licensing 
TVP 

 

5.2 Refer to the Respectful School Communities 
toolkit for advice on creating a culture in which 
sexual harassment of all kinds is seen as 
unacceptable. The Keeping Children Safe in 
Education Statutory Safeguarding Guidance 
provides detailed advice on managing reports 
of abuse and provides links to specialist 
advice and support. 
 

 
(DA healthy 
relationship 
sessions 
mandatory 
through 
RSE/PHSE) 

 

5.3 Identify when the Respectful School 
Communities toolkit is being used in schools 
and what additional activity is happening, 
including the use of nationally available 
campaign materials.  
 

Childrens 
Services 

 

5.4 Liaise with universities and colleges  and their 
representative bodies, to discuss their 
implementation of the Office for Students’ 
Statements of Expectations for Preventing 
and Addressing Harassment and Sexual 
Misconduct. 
 

WCST  

5.5 Identify whether the right local connections 
are in place so that schools know where to 
ask for specialist advice, including whether 
children have the opportunity to talk to 
someone about their personal experiences. 
For example, referral pathways to specialist 
children’s domestic abuse or sexual violence 
services.  
 

(DA element: 
WBC DANG) 

WBC DA 
Nurseries, Early 
Years, Schools 
and colleges 
booklet 
produced and 
circulated 
which includes 
pathways and 
services. 

Raise local 
awareness of the 
issues and 
involve, engage, 
and empower 
communities to 
seek, design and 
deliver 
solutions. 

5.6 Identify and promote wider touch points in the 
community, including: 

 
 

 
 

52



 

5 
 

Public: Information that can be seen and used by everyone inside and outside the Council.

 
Whether local employers have policies on 
VAWG and, if not, how that can be 
encouraged; 

 
How local deaf and disabled people and 
people with learning difficulties are able to 
disclose violence or abuse safely to 
professionals, giving consideration to any 
difficulties they may have in leaving the house 
or in expressing themselves to receive the 
help they need; 

 
Ensure local health visitors, housing and 
health and social care professionals are 
trained to spot all forms of abuse and take the 
appropriate action; 

 
Sexual violence bystander programmes, and 
how they might be used locally to raise 
awareness and help increase reporting. 

 

 
DANG 
 
 
 
DANG 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DANG 
 
 
 
 
WCST 

 
DA workplace 
policy support 
offered. 
 

Priority 6 Action Lead Progress 
6.1 Work together with schools to support 

learning and understanding of misogyny, 
healthy relationships, abuse and VAWG. This 
will be based on evidenced best practice that 
strengthens equality and respect and supports 
children and young people to increase their 
understanding, and knowledge of how to 
report abuse and receive support. 
 

Childrens 
Services  

 

6.2 Work with local colleges and Universities to 
develop awareness in respect of healthy 
relationships and awareness in respect of 
VAWG, that supports understanding, 
identification, and knowledge as to how to 
report and receive support.  
 

DANG  

6.3 Deliver a communications campaign which 
raises awareness of abuse in all its forms and 
provides information  on how to get support 
from local and national services.  
 

DANG  

6.4 Work in partnership with local community 
organisations to ensure engagement with, 
and representation from, all communities 
including those with protected characteristics 
to ensure all voices are heard to better 
understand needs, inform service delivery, 
and ensure survivors know where to get 
support. 
 

DANG/DAPB  

Change 
inappropriate 
attitudes and 
behaviours of 
men and boys. 

6.5 Work with local communities and stakeholders 
to understand the prevalence of harmful 
practices locally and take practical steps to 

DANG  

53



 

6 
 

Public: Information that can be seen and used by everyone inside and outside the Council.

prevent occurrence, support survivors and 
address any permissive cultural norms that 
are prevalent.  
 

 

54



 
 
 

COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
WORK PROGRAMME 2023-24 

 
 
 
 
 
DATE OF 
MEETING 

 
ITEM 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
REASON FOR 
CONSIDERATION 
 

 
CONTACT 
OFFICER 

28 
February 
2024 

Strategic Asset 
Management 
 
 

To scrutinise a review of WBC’s Borough-wide 
assets and future opportunities for use and service 
delivery 
 
 

Committee 
Request 

Sarah Morgan 

 Development in 
Barkham 
 
 
 

To scrutinise the co-ordination of new development 
in Barkham including the SEND schools, solar farm 
and new housing developments 

Committee 
Request 

Sarah Morgan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55

A
genda Item

 90.



 
 
DATE OF 
MEETING 

ITEM PURPOSE OF REPORT REASON FOR 
CONSIDERATION 

CONTACT OFFICER 

4 March 2024 Police and Fire 
Services 

To receive an update on the work of the Police and 
Fire Services 

Work programme Narinder Brar 

 Flood Risk 
Management  

To receive the annual update on the Council’s 
delivery of the flood risk management strategy 

Work Programme Boniface Ngu 

 Adverse 
Weather Plan 

To scrutinise the Council’s updated Adverse 
Weather Plan 

Committee Request Steve Brown 

 Highways & 
Transport  
 

To consider a follow-up on any improvements in 
communications and resident satisfaction – 
following the discussion in September 2023 

Committee Request Chris Easton 

 Work 
Programme 

To consider the work programme for the Committee 
for 2023-24 

Standing Item Democratic Services 

 
Task & Finish Groups – Active Travel Task & Finish Group & Litter Bins Task & Finish Group 
Items for June 2024: 

• Community Safety Partnership – Year-end Report 
• Enforcement & Safety Service – Year-end Report 
• Planning Services – Planning, Strategic Planning and Planning Enforcement 

56



 

 

Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Action Tracker 
2023/24 

 
Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 22 May 2023 

 
Agenda Item Action 

 
Update 

Flood Risk 
Management 

 

• Officers aim to send follow-up emails to 
Members once flood risk management 
works had been completed in their Wards; 

• Written answer re manhole covers; 
• Lower Earley peripheral road issue – 

officers to liaise with relevant Ward 
Member; 

• Members to encourage residents to ‘bulk’ 
report issues to Thames Water. 
 

• Completed 
 
  

• Completed   
• Completed  

  
   

• Completed/Noted 

Combatting Drugs 
Partnership 

• Datasets re relapses, 6 & 12-month 
programme successes for the Borough be 
circulated;  

• Officers to ascertain if the police operation 
over Christmas was random or intelligence 
based; 

• Schedule agenda item re oversight of the 
delivery group – end of 23/24 municipal 
year. 

 

• Completed 
  
  

• Completed 
  
 

• Referred to 
HOSC 

 
 
 

Active Travel Task 
and Finish Group 
Appointments 
 

• Information be provided to the Group re 
funding allocation and any Government 
preferences to suggested WBC schemes. 

• Completed 
 

Work Programmes 
 

• Chair, Vice-Chair and S151 officer to meet 
re earmarked reserves item; 

• Arts and Culture strategy to be scheduled; 
• Officers liaise with Highways colleagues re 

scheduling items for September 2023 
meeting; 

• Schedule item on the Local Plan Update; 
• Arrange item on planning/strategic 

planning/enforcement services via the 
Chair; 

• Arrange work programme by ‘topic’; 
• Consider inviting representatives from 

housing management companies to the 
Committee. 
 

• Completed 
 

• Completed 
• Completed 

  
   

• 2024  
• June 2024 

  
 

• Completed  
• Completed 
 

 
 

57

Agenda Item 91.



 

 

 
 

Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 3 July 2023 
 

Agenda Item Action 
 

Update 

Minutes of Previous 
Meeting 

• Agreed 
 

 

• Completed 
 
 

Draft Violence 
Against Women and 
Girls Strategy 

 

• Comments and feedback from the 
Committee be fed into the development of 
the strategy; 

• Further update to be scheduled. 

• Completed 
 
  

• January 2024 
Directorate Priorities 
– Resources and 
Assets 

• Informal Working Group to be stablished to 
develop a model business case template, 
supported by Graham Ebers and Sally 
Watkins, comprising of Councillors David 
Cornish, Peter Dennis, Norman Jorgensen, 
and Pauline Jorgensen; 

• Note the priorities, opportunities and 
challenges. 

 

• Report in June 
2024  

 
 
 
 
 
 
• Completed 

Directorate Priorities 
– Place and Growth  

• Note the priorities, opportunities and 
challenges. 

• Completed 
 

Community Safety 
Partnership Update 

• Member Comments be fed back to the CSP; 
• Further information be provided on specific 

issues raised at the meeting; 
• The Council’s ASB team be congratulated 

on their achievements over the past year. 

• Completed 
• Completed 

 
• Completed 

Wokingham Anti-
Abuse Charter 
Update 

• Progress relating to the Anti-Abuse Charter 
be reported to Members in conjunction with 
the annual Community Safety Partnership 
update report. 

• Completed 

Work Programme 
 

• The work programme be amended to reflect 
the point raised by Members; 

• The Chair and Vice-Chair discuss the 
possibility of additional meetings in order to 
ensure the effective scrutiny of items on the 
work programme. 

• Completed 
 

• Completed 
 

 
 

Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 4 September 2023 
 

Agenda Item Action 
 

Update 

Member Question 
Time 

 

• Provide written supplementary answer to 
Cllr Cowan and publish in the Minutes. 

• Completed 
 
 

58



 

 

Arts and Culture 
Strategy Update 

• Officers consider amending any future 
versions of the Committee report to show 
which bids were in progress, finished, 
delayed or cancelled   

• Officers consider placing additional efforts 
into advertising the ongoing and future work 
of engagement with young adults; 

• Chair to liaise with officers and the 
Executive Member to establish an 
appropriate meeting to provide an update 
on tangible outputs that the public could 
recognise as successes of the strategy; 

• Arts and Culture Service Plan (internal 
document) be shared with the Committee at 
the appropriate time. 

• Noted 
 
 
 
 
• Noted 
 
 
• 2024/25 

 
 
  
  

  
• 2024/25 
 
 

Highways and 
Transport – 
Customer Service, 
Potholes and Small 
Projects  

• Officers seek to amend the wording of the 
report function to specify reports to 
pedestrian footpaths;  

• Members and residents be invited to report 
any such instances of HGVs damaging road 
surfaces as a result of turning manoeuvres;  

•  Members and residents be invited to report 
instances of rough patches of roads and 
cycleways as a result of respraying;  

•  Members contact the Highways team 
directly should they not be receiving details 
of TROs within their Ward;  

• The Committee consider a follow-up 
session to highlight any improvements 
made with regards to communications and 
resident satisfaction 

• Completed   
 
 

• Noted 
 
 

• Noted 
  

 
• Noted 

 
  
• March 2024 

 
 

 

Local Transport Plan 
4 

• Officers consider adding the hierarchy of 
road users into the LTP4;  

• Officers consider amending the wording of 
the section on scooting to specify push-
scooting;  

• Officers consider adding in information 
relating to demographic data from the 
consultation into the draft LTP4;  

• Executive Members and officers be 
requested to assess the data received 
from the consultation and place a special 
focus on any groups which had been 
underrepresented in future consultations 
on the LTP4;  

• Officers consider providing an Executive 
Summary at the beginning of the LTP4, 
outlining the conclusions and 
recommendations of the report to help 

• Completed  
 

•  Noted 
  
  

•  Noted 
   
  

•  Noted 
 

  
  
  
  

• Noted   
  
  
  

59



 

 

residents to easily engage with the plan 
and proposals;  

• Officers consider exploration of more 
standard market research techniques, in 
order to reach a wider range of people and 
to help qualify the data;  

• The Committee consider if a further 
session be required to offer additional 
overview and scrutiny of the LTP4 prior to 
its consideration at the Executive. 

 
   

• Noted 
 
 
  

• Noted 
 

Action Tracker • Briefing Note on Freedom of Information 
Requests be produced and circulated to the 
Committee. 

• 2024/25 

Work Programme 
 

• LPU item to move to November; 
• VAWG strategy updated to be scheduled for 

January. Chair to meet with Exec Member 
and appropriate officers to discuss tangible 
delivery dates and achievements; 

• Chair to speak with officers with regards to 
scheduling currently unscheduled topics. 

• Completed 
 

• Completed   
 
 

• Completed 
 

 
 
 

Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 2 October 2023 
 

Agenda Item Action 
 

Update 

MTFP Strategic 
Overview 

• Strategic background and challenges facing 
the Borough noted; 

• Challenges and ideas to address current 
budget shortfall to be developed through the 
Budget Scrutiny process. 

• Noted 
 

• Completed 
 
  
 
 

Proposed approach 
- Street Cleaning 
and Grounds 
Maintenance 
Service Review 
 

• Submit Recommendations to the Executive; 
• Establish a T&FG later in 2023/24 to 

scrutinise provision and emptying of litter 
bins with recommendations to the 
Executive. 

• Completed   
• Completed 
 

 
 

 

MTFP Reserves • Reserves position noted – use to inform 
the Budget Scrutiny process; 

• Annual update including details of 
variations from year to year. 

 

• Completed 
 
• Completed 

 

Action Tracker • Highways and Transport Customer Service 
– follow up session in March 2024. 
 

• March 2024 

60



 

 

Work Programme 
 

• Add item on use of WBC buildings – 
location, uses, costs and income generation 
potential. 
 

• Completed 
 

 
Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 9 October 2023 

 
Agenda Item Action 

 
Update 

Local Transport Plan 
4 (LTP4) 
 
 
 

• Member comments and suggestions fed 
into development of LTP4 prior to 
submission to Executive; 

• Chair to attend Executive on 30 November 
2023 to present Committee’s views. 
 

 

• Completed 
 
 

• Completed 
 
 

 
 
 

Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 30 October 2023 
 

Agenda Item Action 
 

Update 

MTFP 2024/27 • Strategic background and challenges facing 
the Borough noted; 

• Comments and challenges relating to 
Resources & Assets and CEX’s directorates 
be fed in development of MTFP 2024/27 

• Completed 
 

• Completed 
 
  
 
 

Work Programme 
 

• Bins Task & Finish Group – Terms of 
Reference to 28 November meeting 
 

• Completed 
 

Action Tracker • Follow up on Combatting Drugs Partnership 
 

• Completed 

 
 
 

Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 14 November 2023 
 

Agenda Item Action 
 

Update 

St Crispin’s Leisure 
Centre 
 

• Further report to meeting on 28 November, 
to include further information/evidence on 
protection of the Council’s assets, school 
places; operating arrangements, ongoing 
maintenance and community use; 

• Options 3,4 and 5 not supported; 

• Completed 
 

 
 
 

• Completed 
 
 

61



 

 

• Progress on strategic plan for school 
places to be considered by Children’s 
Services O&S 
 

• Completed 

MTFP 2024/27 • Strategic background and challenges facing 
the Borough noted; 

• Comments and challenges on Place & 
Growth budget proposals fed back into the  
development of the MTFP 2024/27 
 

• Noted 
 

• Completed 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 28 November 2023 
 

Agenda Item Action 
 

Update 

St Crispin’s Leisure 
Centre 
 

• Recommendations in Executive report 
supported; 

• Request progress on financial analysis for 
Montague Park Community Centre 

• Report back within 12 months on St 
Crispin’s and other school/leisure 
arrangements 
 

• Completed 
 
• Completed 

 
• 2024/25 
 
 

Litter Bins T&FG • Final Terms of Reference submit to meeting 
on 19 December 2023 

• Membership to be confirmed at meeting on 
19 December 2023  

• Completed 
 

• Completed – one 
vacancy 

 
 

 
 

Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 19 December 2023 
 

Agenda Item Action 
 

Update 

MTFP 2024/27 • Strategic background and challenges facing 
the Borough noted; 

• Comments and challenges relating to 
Children’s Services and Adult Social Care 
directorates be fed in development of MTFP 
2024/27 
 

• Completed 
 

• Completed 
 
  
 
 

Litter Bins Task & 
Finish Group 
 

• Terms of Reference approved 
• Membership approved – one Conservative 

vacancy 
• First meeting in early 2024 
 

• Completed 
• Completed 

 
• TBC 

62



 

 

Work Programme 
 

• Additional meeting on 28 February 2024 to 
consider Strategic Assets Review and Co-
ordination of new development in Barkham 
 

• Ongoing 
 

Action Tracker • Updated 
 

• Completed 

 

63



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	83. Minutes of Previous Meeting
	87. Review of the Council's Housing Companies
	1.	A high-level assessment of the degree to which the LHCs are meeting their strategic objectives and delivering for WBC;
	2.	An options appraisal of the available delivery routes for affordable housing, including developing within the housing revenue account (“HRA”) and a revised (potentially merged) group structure of companies;
	3.	To diagnose any factors which may have prevented the LHCs from performing better within the current approach.
		A detailed document review;
		Stakeholder interviews (see Appendix 1);
		Internal review and discussion by the Altair team drawing upon our experience of advising both local authorities and their wholly owned housing companies on optimal delivery routes.
		Greater opportunities to influence the provision of affordable housing addressing need locally.
		Taking a greater stewardship role in place-shaping.
		Creating a revenue stream for the council.
		Contribute directly to new build targets set out within its new emerging Local Plan.
		Supplement its current social rent HRA build programme through the provision of a broader housing offer that includes market tenures.
		Help address any current or future local market failures or shortfalls in terms of type, tenure, and quality of housing.
		Through the LHC, take strategic control over sites, providing greater certainty over site delivery, quality, and design.
		Have greater flexibility in terms of who it lets homes to, the types of tenancy agreements it offers and the level of rents it charges to different groups of people (for example, key workers), when compared to its current social rent housing provision through the HRA.
		Foster well-being, regenerative and local economic benefits for neighbourhoods and communities (for example, ensuring good standards of design and quality, adopting energy efficient designs and methods of construction, working with local companies, and fostering training and apprenticeship opportunities, as appropriate).
		Provide an additional revenue stream for the Council through, for example, margins on possible Council on-lending to the LHC or payment of dividends from surpluses in time.
		Leverage the potential perception and branding advantages of having a standalone property specific company, separate to the Council.
		To provide a range of high quality affordable and market housing for the people of Wokingham Borough and beyond;
		To deliver market housing in order to cross-subsidise the provision of affordable housing and maximise affordable housing delivery on sites without government grant;
		To ensure that housing developed in the Borough is of the appropriate quality, type and affordability to meet the needs and aspirations of the Borough’s residents;
		To provide suitable accommodation for vulnerable residents, including those with disabilities and homeless households, that ensures a better quality of life, promotes independence and minimises the need for costly service interventions;
		To provide or procure landlord services to the tenants of any rented housing;
		To carry out any other activities specifically or generally designed to promote the economic, environmental or social well-being of Wokingham Borough;
		To encourage and promote house building activity during the recession and future economic downturns;
		To maximise the potential of Council-owned assets for the delivery of affordable housing; and
		To complement other trading services and council operations (including Tenant Services).
		Strategy
		Company structure
		Ownership, governance and control
		Development delivery and pipeline
		Finance, funding and risks
		Operations and service provision
		Compliance with RSH requirements
		A margin charged on the lending; and
		A contribution towards overheads, particularly support services through SLA payments.
		The Council – LHC relationship would be governed by a range of documents which will set out how the Council as ‘parent’ controls and monitors the WOC.
		The Council will approve the LHC’s strategy and business plan, and any matters reserved for shareholder consent.
		Through loan agreements, where the Council is acting as a funder, which will set out the loan terms that the LHC must fulfil.
		Through appointments to the Company Boards.
		Option 1 - Collapse the companies into a more streamlined group structure based around Loddon Homes and Wokingham Housing Limited
		Option 2 - Absorb the assets into the HRA and close the companies
		Option 3 - Sell the companies as asset owning going concerns
		First, the Council needs to be clear about its development aspirations and affordable housing targets in terms of size, tenure, quality and location etc.
		Second, it needs to conduct a strategic asset review to ensure it is making efficient and profitable use of its land assets, particularly in the pursuit of additional affording housing delivery. It is critical that this review if executed by individuals with the necessary skills and experience and the Council should consider doing this exercise in collaboration with the companies.
		Third, upon completion of the strategic asset review, the Council can then assess how it can use its land assets to develop a realistic pipeline of schemes which can go towards meeting its strategic housing ambitions.
		Fourth, and only once the first three steps have been concluded, a robust options appraisal can be carried out on the optimal route for each of those pipeline opportunities. Such an options appraisal to include not only scheme modelling but also long-term financial modelling at the entity/organisational level. It may well be that some types of schemes are ideally suited for development within a local housing company while others may well best be left to the private sector via a disposal of the land or delivered via various joint venture arrangements. Subject to the capacity within the HRA, it may also be possible for the council to do direct delivery and retain ownership within the HRA (but note our earlier comments about financial capacity and limits on potential borrowing).
		Fifth, the three strategic options (or variations thereof) set out in section 4 can then be assessed to conclude the review of the LHCs. It may be practical to undertake step 5 concurrently with step 4 as the pipeline schemes may need to be assessed within different scenarios of strategic option 1.
		Direct Delivery by the Council
		Development Agreement with Developer (non-corporate Joint Venture)
		Corporate Joint Venture with Developer
		Traditional land sale, and land sale options
		Development Company (LHCs)
		Investment Partnership of various forms
	Appendix 1	Interviewees

	88. VAWG Strategy Update
	VAWG Action Plan

	90. Work Programme 2023-24
	91. Action Tracker

